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1. Background 

The South Yorkshire Police Force covers a 599 square mile mixture of rural and urban areas. 
It consists of  the four Metropolitan Boroughs of Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and 
Sheffield, with Sheffield being one of the largest regional cities in England. The County has a 
number of areas of deprivation concentrated within what were originally the mining 
communities and also within some of the urban areas of the city and townships. 

South Yorkshire has a population of just over 1.35 million; a rise of 16% since 2012, with 9.3% 
from a minority background. The residential population is increased by university students and 
the large numbers who visit, socilaise in, commute into, or travel through the county each year. 
The transport infrastructure includes major rail stations and an airport. 

The Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) population is increasing in size and diversity. In addition 
to the African Caribean and South Asian community (Pakistani /Kashmiri/ Indian/ Bangladeshi) 
who have been resident long-term, there has been an influx of other minority ethnic groups. 
The largest increases in international communities within South Yorkshire are Polish, Asian 
sub-continent, Chinese, Eastern European and Roma. 

South Yorkshire Police is the 13th largest of the 44 forces in England, Wales and Northern 
Ireland. The Force area is divided into four policing districts, which are co-terminus with the 
Metropolitan Boroughs. In addition, the Force has departments that are centrally based and 
provide specialist support services. In particular, Joint Specialist Operations and Specialised 
Crime Services (SCS) deal with threats posed by public disorder, firearms, child abuse, 
organised crime together with planning around civil emergencies. These services whilst less 
visible than front line policing are integral to meeting the PCC’s strategic policing priorities and 
the Force’s operational objectives. 

2. Introduction 

In 2012/13 the way in which police services in England and Wales were governed and held 
accountable changed as Police Authorities were replaced with Police and Crime 
Commissioners (PCCs). At this time, the Chief Constables of all forces in England and Wales 
were established as separate legal entities. The primary function of the Chief Constable is the 
exercise of operational policing responsibilities under the Police Act 1996. The main role of 
the PCC is to hold their Chief Constable to account for the exercise of these duties and to 
ensure that they deliver an efficient and effective policing service. As part of these changes it 
became necessary to prepare a separate set of statutory accounts for the PCC, the Chief 
Constable and the Group.  This set of accounts reports the Chief Constable’s information. 

The PCC receives all income and funding and makes all payments for the South Yorkshire 
Police Service from the Police Fund.  The Chief Constable fulfils his duties under the Act within 
an annual budget set by the PCC.  A governance framework is in operation which determines 
the respective responsibilities of the two individuals and details local arrangements in relation 
to the use of the PCC’s assets and staff. 

The current Government elected in May, 2005 gave an assurance that PCCs will remain and 
that there will be no legistative changes to the way the police service is governed and held 
accountable. 

The Statement of Accounts is a statutory publication required under the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations and prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16 (the Code), published by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). The Code specifies the principles and practices of 
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accounting required to give a true and fair view of the financial position, of an organisation at 
the end of the financial year and its transactions during the year. 

The information contained in the various statements and notes is of a highly technical nature 
and it may be useful to refer to the Glossary on page 83 for further explanation. 

3. Changes to the Accounting Statements 

There has been a restatement to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for 
2014/15 to split out the Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) / Operation Stovewood costs which 
are material for 2015/16 and have been shown separately.  

Operation Stovewood is the National Crime Agency’s (NCA) independent investigation into 
allegations on non-familial child sexual exploitation and abuse in Rotherham between 1997-
2013. 

 

4. Explanation of Financial Statements 

 The Chief Constable’s Statement of Accounts consist of the following financial statements:  

 Movement in Reserves Statement 

This shows the movement of the Chief Constable’s reserves during the year, analysed 
into usable and unusable reserves. The Chief Constable has no usable reserves. 
Unusable reserves are those that have been created to reconcile the accounting entries 
required to comply with the Code with those that the Chief Constable must statutorily 
charge to the General Fund Balance for council tax setting purposes. They are not 
therefore available to spend.  

The Adjustments between the Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under 
Regulation line within the Statement consolidates all the adjustments needed to convert 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the movement in the General Fund Balance for the year. 

 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

This statement shows the cost for the year of providing services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices. The PCC receives all income which therefore is 
excluded from the Chief Constable’s Statement.  

 Balance Sheet  

This sets out the assets, liabilities and reserves of the Chief Constable as at 31 March 
each year.  

 Cash Flow Statement 

This summarises the movements in cash and cash equivalents during the year.  As all 
the changes in cash and cash equivalents are presented in the PCC’s accounts, this 
statement simply shows the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services adjusted for 
non-cash movements. 

 These Accounts are supported by the Statement of Responsibilities and the Notes to the 
Accounts which include the accounting policies adopted (Note 1). An Annual Governance 
Statement is published with the Accounts which sets out Force’s the governance framework 
and the review of its effectiveness. 
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 In addition, there is a supplementary accounting statement for the Pension Fund Account 
which shows the transactions, as determined by regulation, for the three Police Pension 
Schemes (1987, 2006 and 2015).  

 
5. Summary of the Financial Year - Revenue Budget 

The Force’s budget for 2015/16 was approved by the PCC in February 2015. Funded from a 
combination of government grant, income raised from council tax and reserves it represented 
a reduction, in cash terms, of £9.6m or 4.83% from the previous year.   

Rather than accepting the Council Tax Freeze Grant, the PCC set an increase in Band D 
Council Tax of £2.83 (1.95%) in line with the maximum regarded by the Government as not 
being excessive. The additional income this generated avoided making further reductions in 
spending  and, unlike the Freeze Grant, provided an element of stability in the long term, the 
council tax income being consolidated into the base budget. 

 Revised 
Budget 

Actual Variation 

 £000 £000 £000 

    

Employee costs 199,750 198,325 (1,425) 

Premises costs 7,419 6,833 (586) 

Transport costs 3,998 3,518 (480) 

Supplies & Services costs 12,259 10,197 (2,062) 

Support & Agency costs 26,022 25,349 (673) 

Capital Financing costs 299 - (299) 

Income (9,358) (9,981) (623) 

 240,389 234,241 (6,148) 

Hillsborough Inquests - 727 727 

Child Sexual Exploitation / Operation Stovewood - 3,167 3,167 

Regional Working - (165) (165) 

Total Net Expenditure 240,389 237,970 (2,419) 

    

The Chief Constable‘s actual revenue expenditure for the year was £238.0m. This figure was 
before statutory accounting adjustments and is, therefore, not the same as that shown in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, though the two are reconciled later in 
this document at page 29. 
 
The Force outturn represented a revenue underspend of £2.4m. The significant variations can 
be explained as follows: 
 
Employee costs underspent by (£1.4m). This is the net effect of several under and 
overspends.  
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Police officers basic pay costs were underspent by (£2.5m) as a consequence of more than 
anticipated, retirements, resignations, maternity leave, unpaid career breaks, secondments 
and flexible working. 
 
Police officer overtime was overspent by £1.1m as a consequence of additional policing needs 
relating to demonstrations £0.2m, football £0.2m, protecting vulnerable people £0.2m, special 
events £0.2m, bank holidays £0.1m and covering vacancies £0.2m. 

 
Police Community Support Officers’ (PCSOs) pay was underspent by (£0.9m) largely due to 
approved PCSO reductions being achieved a full year ahead of the original savings plan. 
 
Police staff pay was underspent by (£1.9m) due, largely, to force-wide vacancies as budget 
holders took a prudent approach to vacancy management in light of the financial uncertainty. 
Further savings were achieved also, following a vacant post review which resulted in the dis-
establishment of other than essential vacancies. 
 
Police staff overtime was overspent by £0.4m largely due to covering vacancies. 
 
Other employee expenses were overspent by £2.4m. The overspends were incurred on; 
redundancy costs £0.6m, ill health retirements £0.6m, injury pensions £0.2m and an increase 
in the Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) Levy £1.0m. 
  
Supplies & Services underspent by (£2.1m). There were a number of underspends 
contributing to this, the most significant being a mobile phones underspend of (£0.5m), due to 
a one-off refund from Vodafone for incorrect mobile phone charges backdated to October 
2014. Other contributions included an underspend of (£0.2m) on the communications 
equipment grant due to slippage, clothing and uniforms (£0.2m), forensic analysis (£0.2m), 
scenes of crime consumables (£0.2m), interpreters fees (£0.1m), office equipment (£0.1m), 
police officer subsistence (£0.1m), contingency (£0.1m) and other numerous small 
underspends (£0.4m). 
 

 Hillsborough Inquests costs of £0.7m comprise those of the Force’s legal representation 
and the cost of its Hillsborough Archive Team which were not budgeted for due to the 
uncertainty of special grant funding. The expenditure includes full staffing costs. 
 
Child Sexual Exploitation costs of £3.2m represent expenditure on the Force’s CSE Team 
and the National Crime Agency investigation into historic allegations of abuse. These costs 
were not anticipated and hence not budgeted for. The expenditure includes full staffing costs. 

 
The Force’s budget for 2015/16 was established at a level which required it to make gross 
savings of £12.04m. The Force exceeded this amount by £1.1m. Overall, therefore, whilst 
the budget variations outlined above contributed to the overall underspend of £2.4m, they 
encompass deliberate spending reductions as a consequence of the Force exceeding its 
savings plans. 

     
 

6. Retirement Benefits 

 The Force participates in four pension schemes which are accounted for in line with 
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19, the requirements of which are further explained 
in the Accounting Policies and other notes to the financial statements. The Chief Constable 
has consequently included the commitment to pay future retirement benefits as a liability on 
the Balance Sheet to reflect the true accounting position even though these will not be paid 
until many years into the future.  
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The inclusion of this estimated liability of £2,638m is matched by a Pensions Reserve within 
unusable reserves in the Balance Sheet. The negative balance on the Pensions Reserve 
therefore measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for 
retirement benefits on the basis of cash flow rather than as benefits are earned by employees.  

The inclusion of this reserve has a substantial impact on the net worth of the Chief Constable. 
The amount charged for the year in accordance with accounting standards is different to that 
included in the PCC’s revenue budgets which reflects the amounts paid as pensions. 
 
 

7. Change in Accounting Policy 

There have been no changes in accounting policy during 2015/16 which affect the Chief 
Constable’s Statement of Accounts.  

 

8. Regional Working   

The PCC and Chief Constable work with the other three Yorkshire and Humber PCCs and 
Chief Constables to deliver a number of services on a regional basis. The governance for the 
regional programme is overseen by the Regional Collaboration Board headed by the four 
PCCs and attended by their Chief Constables and Chief Executives.  

From September 2013, individual forces have been assigned lead force responsibility for each 
functional area of work. South Yorkshire leads on Regional Procurement, Stores and Firearms. 
All work is fully funded from contributions made by the four participating PCCs.  

In addition, separate collaboration exists between the PCC and Chief Constable and their 
counterparties in Humberside. The Forces have combined their Human Resources 
departments and Information Services departments in order to increase capacity and further 
reduce costs by standardising processes and support. South Yorkshire and Humberside 
collaboration work is overseen by a Joint Collaboration Board headed by the two PCCs, 
attended by senior officers of their respective offices and forces and supported by separate 
Information Services and Human Resources Programme Boards.  

Further information is included in the Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial 
Statements. 

 

9. Sustainability Reporting 
 

South Yorkshire Police is committed to sustainability and employs a Sustainability Manager to 
develop and implement the Force Sustainability Strategy.  

The initiatives pursued during 2015/16 included:  

 As a participant in the Yorkshire and Humberside Business in the Community Environment 
Index the Force increased its score and received three Significant Improver awards. 

 
 As well as meeting its Carbon Management Plan target of 30% the Force has achieved a 

19% emissions reduction overall and completed over 60 carbon saving projects generating 
savings of over £500,000.  

 In 2015, the Force installed solar photovoltaic panels on three of its major sites and 
connected Snig Hill police station to a low carbon District Heat network.  
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 South Yorkshire Police encourages and supports green travel and in 2015 trained over 
100 staff in Eco-driving techniques.  

 As part of its commitment to reducing its carbon footprint the Force acquired ten electric 
vehicles and continues to develop an electric vehicle and charging infrastructure plan. 
Most new vehicles now have a lower CO2 per g/km less than the vehicle they replace. The 
Force also has over 150 pedal cycles for operational use and work is underway to increase 
the use of these where practicable.  

 The mobile data project ensured that all operational marked vehicles were issued with a 
Toughbook laptop, allowing officers to spend more time away from the station, completing 
essential paperwork and administration whilst out and about without printing, and reducing 
unnecessary travel and fuel consumption. 

 

10. Financial Prospects  

The revenue budget provided by the PCC to the Chief Constable must be viewed within the 
context of the funding the PCC receives from Central Government. In 2016/17 the final police 
settlement given to the PCC was a one year grant settlement. This makes it difficult to 
undertake medium term financial planning, which is necessarily based on making 
assumptions on the potential level of funding for the years beyond 2017.  Unlike local 
authorities, individual PCCs were not given indicative allocations beyond April 2017.  
 
The financial prospects in relation to Government funding are significantly better, however as 
a consequence of the latest Comprehensive Spending Review which gave an indication that 
while grant for the police service in total would be reduced, should PCCs use their local 
discretion to increase the Council Tax, the total amount of income available for policing should 
be broadly stable. Whilst this is a significantly better picture than previously predicted, it is 
clear that a significant proportion of funds made available to policing would be used by the 
Government to fund national initiatives such as the Transformation Fund and the Innovation 
Fund.  Furthermore in 2015/16 the Home Office commenced a review of the police grant 
formula which had to be postponed because of inconsistencies with the data used but it is 
still intended to proceed with a new grant allocation model which could see potentially 
significant changes to the PCC’s and hence Force’s funding arrangements.   
 
In determining the Medium Term Resource Strategy the impact of the legacy issues 
associated with the Force such as the Hillsborough Inquests, and the investigation into Child 
Sexual Exploitation undertaken by the National Crime Agency have seen significant 
additional costs incurred by the Organisation.  It is highly probable that these costs will 
continue in future years.  To date a significant proportion of these costs have been met by 
Home Office funding but the unpredictability of both the likely costs to be incurred and of the 
funding to be received from the Home Office has introduced significant uncertainty when 
trying to forecast future financial prospects.   
 
In recent years the Force has made substantial revenue savings which can clearly be seen 
in the segmental reporting within the Statement of Accounts.  The savings are built into the 
revenue budget 2016/17 but there are still significant savings which need to be made to 
enable a balanced budget in which recurrent expenditure and recurrent income are equal.  In 
order to deliver these reductions to both balance the budget and enable development in 
policing services the forthcoming years are likely to see a great reliance on collaborative work 
with the other three Forces within the Yorkshire and Humberside Region.  Specifically the 
Force has established a Strategic Partnership Programme with Humberside Police which has 
seen the development and implementation of a combined IS Strategy together with shared 
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Information Services and Human Resource departments and, from the start of 2016, a Joint 
Specialist Operations Unit. 
 
The Force operates strong financial management systems and on a monthly basis the Senior 
Leadership Group comprehensively monitors the financial and operational performance of 
the Force.  In the forthcoming year, these monitoring arrangements will be enhanced to 
provide greater linkages to the workforce planning team managed by the Assistant Chief 
Officer (HR) to facilitate an improvement in forecasting changes on staff budgets.  Similarly 
there needs to be a more robust planning and monitoring process around the creation and 
implementation of changes in service delivery intended to both reduce costs and improve 
operational performance.  As the potential funding challenges are significant it will require the 
Chief Constable to continue to work constructively with the PCC in the preparation of further 
cost reduction plans in order to be in a position to respond promptly and strategically to any 
future reductions which are imposed.  Furthermore, to minimise the impact on operational 
service delivery it will require the support of the PCC to, wherever possible, agree to meet 
non recurrent costs through reserves or specific grant funding. 
 

11. Performance Information 

ANNUAL FORCE PERFORMANCE UPDATE APRIL 2015 – MARCH 2016 

 
 

 
*  Burglary Dwelling crime rates are calculated per 1,000 households rather than per 1,000 population. 
Caveat – the data used for Most Similar Group comparisons has not been audited by the Office for National Statistics. 
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Overall during the twelve month reporting period the Force recorded higher volumes than 
both its most similar group (MSG) peer group and the national average for All Crime 
(excluding fraud), Theft Offences, Burglary Dwelling, Burglary Non Dwelling, Vehicle 
Offences, Shoplifting, All Other Theft Offences and Criminal Damage and Arson. Of these 
offences only Vehicle Offences, Criminal Damage and Arson and Shoplifting saw increases 
greater than the MSG and national average. These are considered in more detail below. This 
performance resulted in crime volumes for South Yorkshire being of concern for the HMIC for 
Criminal Damage and Arson and is likely to see a similar position for Vehicle Crime and 
Shoplifting. Overall crime increased by 9% which is in line with the national increases but less 
than the Force’s MSG peers who saw a 12% increase. Areas of interest are considered in 
more detail below. 
 
Violence Against the Person  
This category saw a 32% increase in recorded offences equating to 4,961 extra crimes. This 
was less than the MSG average (34%) though greater than the national increase (28%). 
Analysis has shown that calls for service for violent crime actually decreased in real terms 
but a marked increase in conversion to recorded crime was responsible for the increases. 
The majority of the increase was in the non-domestic, minor assault categories. The risk that 
is present is actually reputational from a crime data integrity standpoint as the Force moves 
further away from the MSG norm in spite of these large increases. 
 
Sexual Offences 
South Yorkshire were of concern to the HMIC for 9 out of the last 12 months of the year for 
other sexual offences and saw an overall increase of 18% for recorded sexual offences. This 
was less than the MSG (24%) and the national average (20%). The increase both nationally 
and locally was assessed as being due to improved crime data integrity with incident 
conversion rates alone increasing by nearly 20%. 
 
Criminal Damage and Arson 
This category increased by 15% overall with 14% increases in criminal damage and 22% in 
arson. Whilst slightly larger than the Force’s MSG (12% increase overall and 18% in arson) 
the existing high volumes mean that the matter has now been raised by the HMIC. Research 
by the Force’s Performance Management Unit has shown the increase was geographically 
very similar and across all crime types. April 2015 saw a marked increase in incident recording 
and a 20% increase in conversion to crime indicating a change in recording practices and 
tighter crime data integrity. 
 
Shoplifting 
This category saw a 7% increase with the MSG (5%) and national average (3%) but existing 
high volumes means that this is also at risk of HMIC attention. No detailed analysis had been 
conducted on the shoplifting recorded volumes. 
 
Vehicle Crime 
This category represents considerable volume and saw a 15% increase which equates to an 
extra 1,500 victims of crime. The increase was more than double that of the MSG (7%) and 
more than triple that of the national average (4%). Other than Violence, this was the biggest 
outlier in terms of percentage and volume. 
 
Drug Offences 
Significant reductions were seen in overall drug offences (23%), trafficking drugs (27%) and 
possession of drugs (27%). In the Overall and Possession categories this was approximately 
double the reductions seen in the MSG peer group and nationally, whilst the trafficking 
offences were nearly triple the national reduction (5%) and the MSG peer group saw no 
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reductions at all. This poses a potential risk as these are primarily offences which are 
dependent on the proactivity of officers. The significant reductions seen in the use of stop and 
search powers along with fewer available resources could be linked to these reductions. 
 
Public Order and Miscellaneous Offences Against Society 
Large percentage increases were experienced in public order offences (44%) and 
miscellaneous offences against society (32%). In both cases the increases were slightly 
larger than the MSG though considerably higher than the national average. However, the 
starting position for Public Order offences showed the Force to be recording less than MSG 
peers and the national average for public order offences and in line with both for 
Miscellaneous Offences Against Society so is not necessarily of concern, indeed this is likely 
to be due to improved crime recording. 
 
In terms of positive trends, Burglary saw significant reductions over the reporting period with 
a 10% overall reduction equating to 1,435 fewer victims of burglary with 885 fewer victims of 
burglary dwelling (a 12% decrease) and 550 fewer victims of burglary other (a 8% decrease). 
Robbery also saw a 6% decrease, against a 2% reduction for the MSG and 1% nationally 
equating to 60 fewer victims. 
 
 

12. Population Information 

The population data for South Yorkshire (as at mid 2013), provided by the Office for National 
Statistics is as follows: 

 

Age Groups Barnsley Doncaster Rotherham Sheffield Total 

0-9 28,142 37,371 31,419 66,760 163,692 

10-19 26,778 34,710 30,728 67,023 159,239 

20-29 28,803 39,099 30,892 102,176 200,970 

30-39 27,392 36,595 29,523 69,676 163,186 

40-49 35,691 43,046 38,144 75,363 192,244 

50-59 32,027 40,860 34,848 62,875 170,610 

60-69 28,108 34,786 30,932 53,425 147,251 

70-79 18,103 22,846 20,401 37,983 99,333 

80-89 9,098 12,094 9,874 20,303 51,369 

90+ 1,615 2,215 1,928 4,501 10,259 

Total 235,757 303,622 258,689 560,085 1,358,153 

 

The total population for White British and Black & Minority Ethnic (BME) groups in 2011 (from 
Census) is as follows: 

 

Uban Area Barnsley Doncaster Rotherham Sheffield Total 

Total Population 231,221 302,402 257,280 552,698 1,343,601 

% White British 96.1% 91.8% 91.9% 80.8% 88.1% 

% Black & Minority Ethnic 3.9% 8.2% 8.1% 19.2% 11.9% 
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13. Satisfaction Information (Victims of Crime) 

The User Satisfaction Survey is a Home Office mandated survey managed by the Force 
Performance Management Unit, with telephone interviews conducted by SMSR Ltd. The 
Survey made contact with a sample of around 1,800 victims of violent crime, burglary dwelling 
and vehicle crime over the year to establish their views in relation to the service they had 
received from the Force. In 2015/16, 84% of victims surveyed were satisfied (i.e. “fairly”, 
“very” or “completely”) with the overall service, a 2% point reduction on the 86% satisfaction 
in 2014/15. South Yorkshire Police was ranked 22nd of the 43 forces with satisfaction in line 
with the national average.  

Results for 2015/16 are as follows: 

 

     

  Satisfied Sample 
% 

Satisfied 

Lo
ca

l P
o

lic
in

g 

U
n

it
 (

LP
U

) 

Doncaster 404 465 87% 

Barnsley 328 411 80% 

Rotherham 344 416 83% 

Sheffield 408 484 84% 

FORCE 1484 1776 84% 

     

U
se

r 

G
ro

u
p

 Burglary Dwelling 519 566 92% 

Vehicle Crime 458 586 78% 

Violent Crime 507 624 81% 

     

Se
rv

ic
e

 

A
sp

e
ct

 Ease of Contact 1,209 1,273 95% 

Actions Taken 1,397 1,760 79% 

Follow Up 1,219 1,712 71% 

Treatment 1,673 1,775 94% 

     

 

    

14. Staffing Information 

The staffing information for the Force as at 31 March 2016 is as follows: 

 Full Time  
Equivalent (FTE) 

Number of 
employees 

Police Officers 2,494 2,540 

Police Community Support 
Officers 

219 226 

Police Staff 1,769 2,005 

Total 4,482 4,771 
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15. Further information about the accounts is available from: 

 

Nigel J Hiller FCPFA FCCA 
Director of Finance,                                                                     
South Yorkshire Police,                                                                   
Police Headquarters, 
Carbrook House, 
5, Carbrook Hall Road, 
Sheffield,  
S9 2EH.
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The Chief Constable’s Responsibilities 

The Chief Constable is required to: 

 make arrangements for the proper administration of the Force’s financial affairs and to ensure that 
one officer has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. That officer is the Director 
of Finance 

 manage the Force’s affairs to secure the economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
to safeguard its assets 

 approve the Statement of Accounts. 

 

I approve this Statement of Accounts   

 

Stephen Watson, Interim Chief Constable                Date:  28th September 2016                                                                                            

 

 

The Director of Finance’s Responsibilities 

The Director of Finance is responsible for the preparation of the Chief Constable’s Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Director of Finance has: 

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently 

 made judgments and estimates that were reasonable and prudent 

 complied with the Local Authority Code 2015/16. 

The Director of Finance has also: 

 kept proper, up to date accounting records 

 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

I certify that the attached Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Chief Constable as at 31 March 2016 and the Force’s income and expenditure 
for the year then ended.  
 
 
 
 

Nigel J Hiller FCPFA FCCA, Director of Finance  Date: 28th September 2016                                                                                                   
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This statement shows the movement in the year of the different reserves held by the Chief Constable. 
The majority of reserves are owned and managed by the PCC with the exception of the Pension 
Reserve and Accumulated Absence Reserve, which are included in the Chief Constable’s statement 
below for 2015/16.   
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 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000   

        

Balance at 1 April 2014 - (2,589,178) (4,419) (2,593,597) (2,593,597)   

Movement in Reserves during 2014/15        

Surplus / (deficit) on the provision of services (94,709) - - - (94,709)   

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure - (316,750) - (316,750) (316,750)   

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (94,709) (316,750) - (316,750) (411,459)   
        

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
regulations (Note 6) 94,709 (94,933) 224 (94,709) -   

        

Movement between Chief Constable and PCC in respect of 
Pension Reserve re; LGPS pension scheme 

- 3,307 - 3,307 3,307   

Net Increase / (Decrease) before Transfers to Earmarked 
Reserves 

- (408,376) 224 (408,152) (408,152)   

        
        

Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves      - - - - -   

Increase/(Decrease) in 2014/15 - (408,376) 224 (408,152) (408,152)   

        

Balance at 31 March 2015 carried forward - (2,997,554) (4,195) (3,001,749) (3,001,749)   

        
Movement in Reserves during 2015/16        

Surplus / (deficit) on the provision of services (74,682) - - - (74,682)   

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure - 434,172 - 434,172 434,172   

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (74,682) 434,172 - 434,172 359,490   
        

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
regulations (Note 6) 

 
74,682 (75,010) 328 (74,682) -   

Net Increase / (Decrease) before Transfers to Earmarked 
Reserves 

- 359,162 328 359,490 359,490   

        

Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves    - - - - -   

Increase/(Decrease) in 2015/16 - 359,162 328 359,490 359,490   

        

Balance at 31 March 2016 carried forward - (2,638,392) (3,867) (2,642,259) (2,642,259)   
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This statement shows the cost in the year of providing operational services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices. All income is included in the PCC’s Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

 

2014/15  2015/16 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Gross 
Income 

Net 
Expenditure 

 Gross 
Expenditure 

Gross 
Income 

Net   
Expenditure 

£000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 

113,968 - 113,968 Local Policing 111,312 - 111,312 

18,649 - 18,649 Dealing with the Public 20,248 - 20,248 

21,808 - 21,808 Criminal Justice Arrangements 22,233 - 22,233 

10,047 - 10,047 Road Policing 9,515 - 9,515 

22,488 - 22,488 Operational Support 20,502 - 20,502 

14,487 - 14,487 Intelligence 12,897 - 12,897 

54,411 - 54,411 Investigations 56,910 - 56,910 

9,472 - 9,472 Investigative Support 10,131 - 10,131 

4,289 - 4,289 National Policing 5,180 - 5,180 

999 - 999 Hillsborough Inquests 727 - 727 

253 - 253 CSE / Operation Stovewood 3,167 - 3,167 

395 - 395 Corporate & Democratic Core 291 - 291 

66 - 66 Non Distributed Costs 1,063 - 1,063 

271,332 - 271,332 
Total Financial Resources 
Consumed 

274,176 - 274,176 

       

(289,945) - (289,945) 

Intra Group Adjustment - funding 
provided by the PCC for financial 
resources consumed by the Chief 
Constable 

(298,131) - (298,131) 

       

(18,613) - (18,613) Net Cost of Policing Services (23,955) - (23,955) 

       

113,322 - 113,322 
Financing and investment income 
and expenditure (Note 7) 

98,637 - 98,637 

       

94,709 - 94,709 
(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision 
of Service 

74,682 - 74,682 

       

  316,750 
Remeasurements of the net 
defined benefit liability (Note 18) 
 

  (434,172) 

  316,750 
Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 
 

  (434,172) 

  411,459 
Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 

  (359,490) 
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Balance Sheet 
The Balance Sheet shows the assets, liabilities and reserves as at the year end. The net assets 
(assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held. Usable reserves may be used to fund 
services and are all held by the PCC. Unusable reserves cannot be used to provide services and are 
used to reflect the accounting arrangements for retirement and employee benefits.   
  

31 March 2015    31 March 2016 

£000   £000 

    

- Long Term Assets  - 

- Total Long Term Assets  - 

    

- Current Assets  - 

- Total Current Assets  - 

    

(4,195) Current Liabilities (Note 8)  (3,867) 

(4,195) Total Current Liabilities  (3,867) 

    

(2,997,554) Long Term Liabilities (Note 9)  (2,638,392) 

(2,997,554) Total Long Term Liabilities  (2,638,392) 

    

(3,001,749) Net Assets  (2,642,259) 

    

- Usable Reserves  - 

(3,001,749) Unusable Reserves (Note 10)   (2,642,259) 

(3,001,749) Total Reserves  (2,642,259) 

 
Cash Flow Statement 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the reporting 
period. The Chief Constable has only non-cash transactions as all receipts and payments go through 
the Police Fund held by the PCC. 
 

2014/15  2015/16 

£000  £000 

   

94,709 Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services  74,682 

(94,709) 
Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash 
movements (Note 11) 

(74,682) 

- 
 

- 

Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of 
services that are investing and financing activities 

Proceeds from sale of property 

- 
 

- 

- Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities - 

- Investing Activities - 

- Financing Activities - 

- Net Increase or Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents - 

- Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period - 

- Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period - 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

a) General Principles 

 The Statement of Accounts summarises the Chief Constable of South Yorkshire Police’s 
transactions for the 2015/16 financial year and the position as at the year end of 31 March 
2016. The Force is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts in accordance with 
proper accounting practices by the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015. These 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2015/16 (the Code), and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2015/16, supported 
by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, 
modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments. 

b) Relationship Between the PCC and the Chief Constable for Accounting Purposes 

The PCC and the Chief Constable are both required to prepare their own statutory accounts. 
The South Yorkshire Group position, which reflects the consolidated position of both the PCC 
and the Chief Constable, is included within the PCC’s Statement of Accounts. 

The PCC is the holder of the Police Fund and all payments for the Group are made by the 
PCC from the Fund. The PCC is also the recipient of all funding, including government grant 
and precepts and other income and this is paid into the Fund. The Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement for the PCC therefore includes all income received, analysed over 
the relevant service lines.  

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the Chief Constable includes all 
the costs of operational policing. An intra-group adjustment is included in both the PCC’s and 
Chief Constable’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to reflect the funding 
provided by the PCC for financial resources consumed by the Chief Constable. 

All assets, liabilities and reserves are held by the PCC and are therefore included within the 
PCC’s Balance Sheet except for those relating to pensions and accrued employee benefits 
which form part of the Chief Constable’s Balance Sheet (see paragraph (f) for further 
explanation). Since the PCC has control over non-current assets, and therefore retains the 
long-term risks and rewards of ownership, the charges to revenue for their use is included in 
the PCC’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, analysed over the relevant 
service lines. 

c) Accruals of Income and Expenditure  

Activity is accounted for in the year in which it takes place, not simply when cash payments 
are made or received. In particular: 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Where there is a gap 
between the date significant supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried 
as inventories on the Balance Sheet of the PCC. 

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are 
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are 
made. 

 Where income and expenditure has been recognised but cash has not yet been received 
or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the PCC’s Balance 
Sheet. Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors is reduced and 
a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be collected. 
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d) Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct 
a material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, that is, in 
the current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period 
adjustment. 

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices 
or when the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of 
transactions, other events and conditions on the financial position or financial performance. 
Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had 
always been applied. 

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 

e) Exceptional Items 

When items of income and expenditure are material, their nature and amount is disclosed 
separately, either in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the Notes 
to the Accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of 
performance. 

f) Employee Benefits 

Transactions relating to employee benefits are included in the financial statements of both the 
PCC or the Chief Constable according to where the direction and control of those employees 
lies. 

Benefits Payable During Employment 

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. 
They include salaries, paid annual leave, flexitime and other non-monetary benefits such as 
cars. They are recognised as an expense in the year in which employees render service.  An 
accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements and other forms of leave, such as time off 
in lieu, earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry 
forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the salary rates applicable in the 
following accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The 
accrual is charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and then reversed out through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the 
financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  

Termination Benefits 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision to terminate employment 
before their normal retirement date or where an employee decides to accept voluntary 
redundancy. These are charged on an accruals basis to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement when there is demonstrable commitment to the termination of the 
employment of an employee or group of employees. 

When termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require 
the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable to the pension fund or 
pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting 
standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from 
the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement 
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termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and 
pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  

Retirement Benefits 

Employees of the Chief Constable participate in the following pensions schemes: 

 The 1987, 2006 and 2015 Police Pension Schemes (PPS) for police officers are unfunded 
schemes, which means that there are no investment assets built up to meet the pensions 
liabilities, and cash has to be generated to meet the actual payments as they fall due. The 
PCC is required by legislation to operate a Pension Fund with the amounts that must be 
paid into or out of the Pension Fund being specified by regulation. The former Police 
Authority set up a Pension Fund on 1 April 2006 from which pensions payments are made 
and into which contributions, from the PCC and employees, are received. The PCC then 
receives a top-up grant from the Government equal to the sum by which the amount 
payable for pensions from the Pension Fund exceeds the amount receivable from the PCC 
into the Pension Fund. The Pension Fund is shown separately in the Accounts. 

 The latest Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) pension scheme was introduced 
on 1 April 2015. This moves away from the ‘Final Salary’ arrangements of the 1987 and 
2006 schemes, and is as a result of Lord Hutton’s independent review of public service 
pensions.  

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for police staff, administered by the 
South Yorkshire Pensions Authority, is a funded scheme, which means that the PCC and 
employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the 
pensions liabilities with investment assets. 

 The above schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and 
pensions), earned as employees work. They are accounted for in accordance with the 
requirements for defined benefits schemes, based on the principle that an organisation should 
account for retirement benefits when it is committed to give them, even though this may be 
many years into the future.  

A pensions asset or liability is recognised in the Balance Sheet, made up of the net position 
of retirement liabilities and pension scheme assets. Retirement liabilities are measured on an 
actuarial basis using the projected unit method, by assessing the future payments that will be 
made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions 
about mortality rates, employee turnover rates and estimations of projected earnings for 
current employees. Pension scheme assets (LGPS only) attributable to the PCC are included 
at their fair value. There is currently a net pensions liability and this is matched in the Balance 
Sheet by a Pensions Reserve. 

The change in net pensions liability during the year is analysed into several components: 

 current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of service earned by employees 
in the current year. This is charged to services within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

 past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions, the effect 
of which relates to service earned in earlier years. This is part of Non Distributed Costs in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 net interest on the net defined benefit liability – the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit liability that arises from the passage of time. This is calculated by applying 
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the 
period to the net defined benefit liability at the beginning of the period, taking into account 
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any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution 
and benefit payments. This is charged to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 Remeasurements comprising: 

o the return on plan assets (LGPS only) – this excludes amounts included in net interest 
on the net defined benefit liability and is charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

o actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because 
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or 
because the actuaries have updated their assumptions. This is charged to the 
Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expendture. 

 Contributions paid / benefits paid – cash paid as employer’s contribution by the PCC either 
to LGPS or directly to pensioners to reduce the scheme liabilities. 

Statutory provisions require that the amount charged to the General Fund Balance is that 
payable to pensions funds rather than that calculated under accounting standards. This 
means that an appropriation to or from the Pensions Reserve is done within the Movement in 
Reserves Statement to replace the notional sums for retirement benefits with the actual 
pensions costs. The negative balance on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the 
beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on 
the basis of cash flow rather than as benefits are earned by employees. 

g) Overheads and Support Services 

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the supply 
or service in accordance with the costing principles of the CIPFA’s Service Reporting Code of 
Practice. The total absorption costing principle is used, where the full cost of overheads and 
support services are shared between users in proportion to the benefits received, with the 
exception of: 

 Corporate and Democratic Core – costs relating to the democratic processes of the Chief 
Constable and other corporate costs 

 Non distributed costs – the cost of discretionary benefits awarded to employees retiring 
early and impairment losses chargeable on Assets Held for Sale.  

These two cost categories are accounted for as separate headings in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement in the Chief Constable’s Financial Statements.  

h) Regional Working 

The PCC and Chief Constable engage with the other Yorkshire and Humber PCCs and Chief 
Constables to deliver a number of specific services on a regional basis. The governance of 
this regional programme is undertaken by a Regional Collaboration Board headed by the four 
PCCs and attended by their Chief Executives and the Chief Constables.  

From September 2013 each functional area is now being delivered via a Lead Force model. 

In addition a separate collaboration exists between the PCC and Chief Constable and their 
counterparts in Humberside. South Yorkshire Police and Humberside Police have combined 
their Human Resources departments and Information Services departments in order to 
increase capacity and further reduce costs by standardising processes and support. This 
collaboration is overseen by a Joint Collaboration Board headed by the two PCCs, and 
supported by Programme Boards for each function. 
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The above collaboration with Humberside Police has been treated as a joint operation and 
therefore in order to comply with IFRS11 Joint Arrangements, the Group Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement only reflects SYP’s share of the income and expenditure.  

Each force recognises only its share of any jointly procured fixed assets. South Yorkshire acts 
as lead administration force for the collaboration arrangement and as such fully recognises 
any liabilities with a corresponding debtor for Humberside PCC for their share of the costs, as 
at the balance sheet date.  
 
The Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement incorporates the costs of 
regional working together with any income received or recharged. Assets owned by the PCC 
but contributing to regional working are retained on the PCC’s Balance Sheet. 
 
More information is included in Note 19.  
 

i) Foreign Currency Translation 

Where a transaction has been entered into in a foreign currency, the transaction is converted 
into sterling at the exchange rate applicable on the date the transaction was effective. 

j) VAT 

The Chief Constable does not submit a VAT return as the PCC submits a single VAT return 
on behalf of the Group.  Income and expenditure is shown in these accounts as excluding 
amounts related to VAT, as all VAT collected is payable to the HM Revenue and Customs and 
all VAT paid is recoverable from them. 

k) Events After the Balance Sheet Date 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that 
occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts 
is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

 those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events 

 those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement 
of Accounts are not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would 
have a material affect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their 
estimated financial effect. 

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement 
of Accounts.  

l) Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Not Yet Adopted 

The Code requires that information is disclosed relating to the impact of any accounting 
standards have been issued but have not yet been adopted.   

There are no standards that have been issued but not yet adopted that will result in a change 
in accounting policy from 1 April 2016.  

m) Reserves 

The Chief Constable does not hold any usable reserves. However, unuseable reserves are 
kept to reflect the accounting arrangements for retirement and employee benefits. 
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2. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the PCC and Chief Constable are 
required to make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving 
uncertainty about future events. In applying the revised accounting arrangements, a number 
of judgements have been made with regard to the financial statements.  

 The Chief Constable’s Financial Statements include: 

o all the operational costs of policing within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Account 

o all IAS19 pensions transactions in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account and pensions liabilities together with Pensions Reserve in the Balance 
Sheet 

o the accrual for employee benefits and the matching Accumulated Absence 
Account in the Balance Sheet. 

 The PCC’s Financial Statements include: 

o all other assets, liabilities and reserves within the Balance Sheet 

o accounting entries relating to IAS19 pensions transactions for the PCC’s staff who 
are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme in the financial statements 

o the charge to revenue for the use of non-current assets, including depreciation, 
revaluation and impairment and amortisation of intangible assets within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account 

o all income within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 

3. CHANGES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

There has been a restatement to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for 
2014/15 for CSE / Operation Stovewood which are material for the 2015/16 and have been 
shown separately. 
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4. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made 
about the future. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends 
and other relevant factors. However, because figures cannot be determined with certainty, 
actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates. 

The items in the Chief Constable’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2016 for which there is a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming year are as follows: 

Item Uncertainty Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

Pensions 
Liability 

Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions is extremely volatile as it 
depends on a number of complex 
judgements relating to the discount 
rate used, the rate at which salaries 
are projected to increase, changes in 
retirement ages, mortality rates and 
expected returns on pension fund 
assets.  

Actuaries are engaged to provide 
expert advice about the assumptions 
to be applied for each of the pension 
schemes. 

Whilst the effects on the net 
pensions liability of changes in 
individual assumptions can be 
measured, the assumptions 
interact in complex ways.  

During 2015/16, the Actuaries 
advised that the net pensions 
liability had decreased by 
approximately £434m as a result of 
estimates being revised and 
updating financial and 
demographic assumptions.  This is 
reported on the Chief Constable’s 
Income and Expenditure and 
further information is provided at 
Note 18. 

5. MATERIAL ITEMS OF INCOME AND EXPENSE 

The Chief Constable’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement includes costs 
incurred of £3.167m during 2015/16 relating to CSE.  Special grant claim income has been 
received of £0.821m which is included in the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

 

The costs relating to Hillsborough Inquests have been shown separately in the Chief 
Constable’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Whilst this is not material 
for the Chief Constable, it has been included separately for transparency as these are material 
for the Group shown within the PCC’s Statement of Accounts. 
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6. ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER 
REGULATION 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure recognised by the Chief Constable in the year. It is in accordance with proper 
accounting practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being 
available to the Chief Constable to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. 
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    £000     £000 

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve:     

 Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

162,334  (162,334) 

 Employer’s pensions contributions and direct payments to 
pensioners payable in the year 

(34,953)  34,953 

 Additional contribution by PCC to Pension Account to 
balance deficit on the Account 

(52,371)  52,371 

 75,010  (75,010) 

Adjustments primarily involving the Accumulated 
Absences Account: 

 Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an 
accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in 
the year in accordance with statutory requirements 

(328)  328 

Total Adjustments 74,682   (74,682) 
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    £000     £000 

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve:     

 Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

170,766  (170,766) 

 Employer’s pensions contributions and direct payments to 
pensioners payable in the year 

(35,272)  35,272 

 Additional contribution by PCC to Pension Account to 
balance deficit on the Account 

(40,561)  40,561 

 94,933  (94,933) 
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Adjustments primarily involving the Accumulated 
Absences Account: 

 Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an 
accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in 
the year in accordance with statutory requirements 

(224)  224 

Total Adjustments 94,709     (94,709) 

 

7. FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

31 March 
2015 

 31 March  

2016 

£000  £000 

113,322 Pensions interest cost and expected return on pensions 
assets 

98,637 

113,322 Total  98,637 

 

8. CURRENT LIABILITIES 

31 March 
2015 

 31 March  

2016 

£000  £000 

4,195 Other entities and individuals 3,867 

4,195 Total 3,867 

 

9. LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

31 March 
2015 

 31 March  

2016 

£000  £000 

2,997,554 Pension Liability 2,638,392 

2,997,554 Total 2,638,392 

  

The Pensions Liability represents the net position of retirement liabilities and the pension 
scheme assets and is matched by the Pensions Reserve (Note 10) 
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10. UNUSABLE RESERVES 

31 March 
2015 

 31 March  

2016 

£000  £000 

(4,195) Accumulated Absences Account (3,867) 

(2,997,554) Pensions Reserve (2,638,392) 

(3,001,749) Total  (2,642,259) 

 

Pensions Reserve 

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing difference arising from the different arrangements 
for accounting for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with 
statutory provisions.  

The Chief Constable accounts for post employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of 
service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and 
investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory 
arrangements require benefits earned to be financed, as employers’ contributions are made 
to pension funds or eventually direct pensions are paid.  

The balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits 
earned by past and current employees and the resources set aside to meet them. The 
statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the 
benefits come to be paid. 

The transactions on the Pensions Reserve are as follows: 

2014/15  2015/16 

£000  £000 

(2,589,178) Balance at 1 April (2,997,554) 

3,307 Movement of opening reserve between Chief Constable and 
PCC  

- 

(316,750) Actuarial gains or (losses) on the pensions assets and liabilities 434,138 

 

- 

Adjustment between the group to correct the opening and 
closing balances 

 

34 

(170,766) 
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

(162,334) 

75,833 
Employer’s pensions contributions and direct payments to 
pensioners payable in the year 87,324 

(2,997,554) Balance at 31 March (2,638,392) 

 

In terms of the Pensions Reserve there has been a change in respect of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011. Stage 2 transfers made during 2014/15 have been 
reversed as those employees transferred employment back to the Chief Constable from the 
PCC in 2015/16.  The staff were those within Corporate Finance, Corporate Communications 
and Legal Services.  
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Accumulated Absences Account 

The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on 
the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in 
the year, for example annual leave entitlement carried forward as at 31 March. Statutory 
arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers 
to or from this Account. 

2014/15  2015/16 

£000  £000 

(4,419) Balance at 1 April (4,195) 

224 
Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of preceding 
year 

328 

- Amounts accrued at the end of the current year - 

224 

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis is different 
from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements 

328 

(4,195) Balance at 31 March (3,867) 

 

11. CASH FLOW STATEMENT – ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON-CASH MOVEMENT 

 2014/15  2015/16 

£000  £000 

   

224 Decrease in creditors 328 

(94,933) Movement in pensions liability (75,010) 

   

(94,709) 
Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on provision of 
services for non-cash movements 

(74,682) 

 

12. AMOUNTS REPORTED FOR RESOURCE ALLOCATION DECISIONS 

The analysis of income and expenditure by service in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement of the Chief Constable’s Financial Statements is that specified by the 
Service Reporting Code of Practice. However, decisions about resource allocation are taken 
on the basis of budget reports analysed across budget holders. These reports are prepared 
on a different basis from the accounting policies used in the financial statements. In particular: 

 no charges are made in relation to capital expenditure, whereas depreciation, revaluation 
and impairment losses in excess of the balance on the Revaluation Reserve and 
amortisations are charged to services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the PCC’s Financial Statements 

 the cost of retirement benefits is based on cash flows (payment of employer’s 
contributions) rather than current service cost of benefits accrued in the year 
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The income and expenditure of the Chief Constable’s principal budget holders recorded in the 
budget reports for the year is as follows: 
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 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Employee  12,825 18,950 14,058 33,049 31,860 36,055 13,663 10,159 2,943 173,562 

Premises 159 165 210 237 363 146 133 5,216 - 6,629 

Transport 466 697 450 1,022 1,414 1,028 108 (1,909) 123 3,399 

Supplies & Services 90 147 134 174 1,708 1,190 2,217 18,231 8,462 32,353 

Total operating 
expenses 

13,540 19,959 14,852 34,482 35,345 38,419 16,121 31,697 11,528 215,943 

Income (34) (91) (66) (56) (1,665) (734) (876) (1,377) (3,488) (8,387) 

Net cost of 
services 

13,506 19,868 14,786 34,426 33,680 37,685 15,245 30,320 8,040 207,556 
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 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Employee 14,617 21,096 16,027 38,965 33,517 26,880 14,201 9,909 3,276 178,488 

Premises 145 191 234 244 392 190 110 5,342 - 6,848 

Transport 488 769 508 1,187 1,724 888 111 (2,008) 194 3,861 

Supplies & Services 259 319 215 612 2,591 3,924 2,538 17,884 5,781 34,123 

Total operating 
expenses 

15,509 22,375 16,984 41,008 38,224 31,882 16,960 31,127 9,251 223,320 

Income (44) (61) (78) (85) (2,607) (462) (580) (1,641) (3,614) (9,172) 

Net cost of 
services 

15,465 22,314 16,906 40,923 35,617 31,420 16,380 29,486 5,637 214,148 

           

Support Services includes Senior Leadership Group, Professional Standards, Corporate 
Finance, Procurement, Facilities Management, Information Services, Vehicle Fleet 
Management, Legal Services, Human Resources and Corporate Communications. 
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Reconciliation of Budget Holder Income and Expenditure to Financial Resources 
Consumed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

This reconciliation shows how the figures in the analysis of budget holder income and 
expenditure relate to the amounts included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

2014/15 

£000 

   2015/16 

£000 

214,148  Net Expenditure in the Budget Holder Analysis  207,556 

27,549 

 Net Expenditure of services and support services not 
included in the analysis (Police Community Support 
Officers, CSE, grants, collaborations, Hillsborough, 
regional, secondments and non devolved) 

 

30,414 

 
 Amounts in Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement, not reported to management in the analysis 
 

 

 

57,220 

57,444 

(224) 

 Retirement benefits (IAS 19) 

 Employee leave accrual change 

63,698 

(328) 

 

63,370 

 
 Amounts reported to management not included in 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 

 

 

 

 

 

(27,585) 

(35,274) 

(6,537) 

(4,355) 

 

18,581 

 Superannuation 

 Collaboration adjustment 

 Corporate Finance, Legal Services, Corporate 
Communication to PCC 

 Income to PCC 

(34,953) 

(7,404) 

(3,907) 

 

19,100 

 

 

 

 

(27,164) 

     

271,332  Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  274,176 
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Reconciliation to Subjective Analysis 
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 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Fees, charges and other 
service income 

(8,387) (10,713) - 19,100 - - - - - 

Total income (8,387) (10,713) - 19,100 - - - - - 

Employee costs 173,562 41,335 63,370 (42,470) 235,797 (259,752) (23,955) 98,637 74,682 

Other service expenses 42,381 (208) - (3,794) 38,379 (38,379) - - - 

Total operating expenses 215,943 41,127 63,370 (46,264) 274,176 (298,131) (23,955) 98,637 74,682 

          

Surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services 

207,556 30,414 63,370 (27,164) 274,176 (298,131) (23,955) 98,637 74,682 
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 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Fees, charges and other 
service income 

(9,172) (9409) - 18,581 - - - - - 

Total income (9,172) (9,409) - 18,581 - - - - - 

Employee costs 178,488 39,070 57,220 (43,529) 231,249 (249,862) (18,613) 113,322 94,709 

Other service expenses 44,832 (2,112) - (2,637) 40,083 (40,083) - - - 

Total operating expenses 223,320 36,958 57,220 (46,166) 271,332 (289,945) (18,613) 113,322 94,709 

          

Surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services 214,148 27,549 57,220 (27,585) 271,332 (289,945) (18,613) 113,322 94,709 
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13. OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION AND NUMBERS 

The remuneration paid to the Force’s senior employees during 2015/16 is as follows: 
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 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

       

Chief Constable –  D Crompton 159,477 - 2,671 162,148 15,523 177,671 

 
Deputy Chief Constable 
(to 16 March 2016) 

      

137,291 - 5,077 142,368 28,250 170,618 

       

Deputy Chief Constable 
(from 19 October 2015) 

57,397 - 2,241 59,638 13,440 73,078 

 

Assistant Chief Constable – Territorial 
Operations 

104,676 - 3,229 107,905 23,746 131,651 

 
Assistant Chief Constable – 
Specialist Operations  
 

104,143 - 1,248 105,391 23,582 128,973 

 
ACC seconded to College of Policing 
(in post since 14 July 2014) 
 

121,697 - 4,212 125,909 21,206 147,115 

Director of Finance  114,324 310 6,461 121,095 12,690 133,785 

       

 

Notes 

 The post Assistant Chief Officer Human Resources is not shown in the table above as the 
post is shared with Humberside Police. South Yorkshire Police pay for 50% (£80,600) of 
the employee’s costs as part of the collaborative shared service for Human Resources.  

 There was an overlap of the Deputy Chief Constable post due to retirement on 16 March 
2016. 

 The cost of the ACC seconded to College of Policing was reimbursed in full. 
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Chief Constable –  D Crompton 157,668 150 1,738 159,556 36,314 195,870 

 

Deputy Chief Constable 
130,821 150 3,522 134,493 29,959 164,452 

 

Assistant Chief Constable – Territorial 
Operations 

107,356 150 4,171 111,677 23,444 135,121 

 

Assistant Chief Constable – 
Specialist Operations  

(to 13 July 2014) 

 

36,872 - 2,972 39,844 7,935 47,779 

ACC Specialist Operations seconded 
to College of Policing from 14 July 
2014 

70,539 - - 70,539 18,003 88,542 

 

Assistant Chief Constable – 
Specialist Operations  

(from 20 Aug 2014) 

 

53,233 150 763 54,146 14,189 68,335 

Director of Finance  112,066 460 1,838 114,364 12,215 126,579 

       

 

Notes 

 The post Assistant Chief Officer Human Resources is not showing in the table above as 
the post is shared with Humberside Police. South Yorkshire Police pay for 50% (£78,400) 
of the employee’s costs as part of the collaborative shared service for Human Resources.  

 The post of Assistant Chief Constable – Specialist Operations was vacant between 13 
July and 20 August 2014.  

 The post holder of Assistant Chief Constable – Specialist Operations was in post until 13 
July 2014 on 14 July 2014 and was seconded to The College of Policing as Faculty Lead 
for Organisation Development and International Standards. The costs of this senior officer 
have been split accordingly in the table above.  

 The cost of the ACC seconded to College of Policing was reimbursed in full. 
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The Force’s employees (officers and staff), including the senior employees identified in note 
13, receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the year (excluding employer’s 
contributions but including expenses) were paid the following amounts: 

2014/15  2015/16 

Number £ Number 

   
121 50,000   -    54,999 106 

81 55,000   -    59,999 83 

35 60,000   -    64,999 31 

11 65,000   -    69,999 9 

6 70,000   -    74,999 10 

2 75,000   -    79,999 1 

10 80,000   -    84,999 5 

2 85,000   -    89,999 8 

- 90,000   -    94,999 - 

- 95,000   -    99,999 - 

1 100,000   -    104,999 - 

- 105,000   -    109,999 1 

1 110,000   -    114,999 1 

1 115,000   -   119,999 - 

- 120,000   -   124,999 2 

- 125,000   -   129,999 - 

1 130,000   -   134,999 - 

- 135,000   -    139,999 - 

- 140,000   -   144,999 1 

- 145,000   -   149,999 - 

- 150,000   -   154,999 - 

1 155,000   -   159,999 - 

- 160,000   -   164,999 1 

273  259 

 

A number of employees work in shared services with other regional forces. Disclosure of such 
employees is made in the accounts of the force that holds the employment contract of those 
individuals. 
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The number of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of compulsory and other 
departures are set out in the table below. 

Exit Package cost 
band (including 
special payments) 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of other 
departures 

agreed 

Total number of 
exit packages 
per cost band 

Total cost of 
exit packages in 

each band 

 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 

       £000 £000 

£0 - £20,000 6 - 3 99 9 99 82 1,108 

£20,001 - £40,000 2 2 1 41 3 43 86 1,197 

£40,001 - £60,000 - - - 12 - 12 - 541 

£60,001 - £80,000 - - - 7 - 7 - 535 

£80,001 - £100,000 - - - - - - - - 

 8 2 4 159 12 161 168 3,381 

The total costs in the above table include all exit packages that were paid or agreed in each 
year.  

14. TERMINATION BENEFITS 

Costs shown in Note 13 on exit packages include a number of termination payments. During 
2015/16, there were 159 staff whose contracts were terminated as part of the voluntary early 
release scheme / exit package at a cost of £3.372m compared to 4 employees at a cost of 
£0.137m in 2014/15. The remaining balance of £0.009m relates to compulsory redundancies 
(£0.031m in 2014/15). The exit packages all related to police staff and no police officer 
termination payments were made in either year. 

  

15. EXTERNAL AUDIT COSTS 

 The Chief Constable has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement 
of Accounts undertaken by its external auditors, KPMG.   

2014/15  2015/16 

£000  £000 

25 
Fees payable with regard to external audit services carried out by the 
appointed auditor for the year 

19 

25  19 
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16. RELATED PARTIES 

 The Chief Constable is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies 
or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Force or to be controlled or 
influenced by the Force. Disclosure of these transactions allows an assessment of the extent 
to which the Chief Constable might have been constrained in his ability to operate 
independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely 
with the Force. 

 Central Government 

 Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the Chief 
Constable. It is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the Chief 
Constable operates, provides the majority of funding in the form of grants and prescribes the 
terms of many of the transactions that the Chief Constable has with other parties.  

 Officers 

 Certain officers might also be in a position to influence significantly the policies of the Chief 
Constable. No material related party transactions have been identified following consultation 
with relevant officers. 

17. LEASES 

Operating Leases  

The PCC currently has operating leases for some properties, computer equipment and a small 
number of vehicles. These are used by the Chief Constable and the future minimum lease 
payments due under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 

31 March 
2015 

 31 March 
2016 

£000  £000 

333 Not later than one year 402 

375 Later than one year and not later than five years 540 

- Later than five years - 

708 Total  942 

 

The expenditure charged to the Comprehensive Expenditure and Income Statement during 
the year in relation to these leases was £0.404m in 2015/16 (£0.420m in 2014/15). 
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18. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION SCHEMES 

Participation in Pensions Schemes  

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the PCC makes 
contributions towards the cost of post employment benefits. Although these benefits will not 
actually be payable until employees retire, the PCC has a commitment to make the payments 
and this needs to be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. 

The Force participates in four pension schemes as explained in the Accounting Policies: 
Pension schemes for police officers (PPS 1987, 2006 and 2015) and the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) for support staff, administered by the South Yorkshire Pensions 
Authority. 

Injury awards are payable irrespective of whether a police officer is a member of the Pension 
Scheme and tax rules from 1 April 2006 prevent injury awards from being part of pension 
scheme regulations. Injury awards have been moved into a separate Police Compensation 
Scheme (PCS) and under the pensions financial arrangements they must be paid from the 
PCC’s operating account and not the Pension Fund Account. The injury awards have been 
accounted for as part of the pensions adjustments and information relating to these injury 
awards are disclosed separately in the following notes. 

 Transactions relating to post employment Benefits 

The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the reported Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement when they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits 
are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge required against council tax is based 
on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of post employment / retirement benefits is 
reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The following 
transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and 
the General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year: 

2015/16 
PPS 
1987 

PPS 
2006 

PPS 
2015 PCS LGPS Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement  

  
 

  
 

Cost of Services       

 Current service cost 29,820 460 14,560 2,470 11,721 59,031 

 Past service cost  - -  40 44 84 

 Curtailments - -  - 979 979 

 Transfer between PCC and CC in year - -  - 3,603 3,603 

Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure 

  
 

  
 

 Net interest expense 90,200 2,270 340 2,090 3,737 98,637 

Total post employment benefit charged to 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

120,020 2,730 14,900 4,600 20,084 162,334 
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2015/16 
PPS 
1987 

PPS 
2006 

PPS 
2015 PCS LGPS Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Other post employment benefit charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

  
 

  
 

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
liability comprising: 

  
 

  
 

 Return on plan assets (excluding the 
amount included in the net interest 
expense) 

- - - - 6,361 6,361 

 Actuarial gains and losses arising on 
changes in demographic assumptions 

(41,070) (1,110) (300) (630) - (43,110) 

 Actuarial gains and losses arising on 
changes in financial assumptions 

(228,830) (15,210) (1,670) (4,820) (25,470) (276,000) 

 Experience gains and losses (136,200) 11,120 470 (5,830) - (130,440) 

 Other 9,174 31 3 (1) (156) 9,051 

Total post employment benefit charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account 

(276,906) (2,439) 13,403 (6,681) 819 (271,804) 

       

Movement in Reserves Statement       

 Reversal of net charges to Surplus or 
Deficit for the Provision of Services for 
post employment benefits in accordance 
with the Code 

(120,020) (2,730) (14,900) (4,600) (20,084) (162,334) 

Actual amount charged against the General 
Fund Balance for pensions in the year 

  
 

   

 Employer’s contribution payable 13,279 248 10,820 - 8,617 32,964 

 Retirement benefits payable to pensioners - - - 1,989 - 1,989 

 Additional contribution to Police Pension 
Fund Account to balance deficit  

69,636 (461) (16,804) - - 52,371 

 

In 2014/15, costs and liabilities were recognised relating to the staff that were directly employed by 
the PCC from the staff that transferred within Corporate Finance, Corporate Communications and 
Legal Services.  In 2015/16, these staff transferred back to the Chief Constable.  

An adjustment has been made accordingly in the Movement in Reserves Statement and Balance 
Sheet of the Chief Constable and the PCC. This change has had no effect on the Group position.  
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Comparative figures for 2014/15 are: 

2014/15 
PPS 
1987 

PPS 
2006 PCS LGPS Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement  

    
 

Cost of Services      

 Current service cost 41,190 6,850 1,050 8,288 57,378 

 Past service cost  - - 10 - 10 

 Curtailments - - - 56 56 

Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure 

    
 

 Net interest expense 104,460 2,400 3,830 2,632 113,322 

Total post employment benefit charged to 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

145,650 9,250 4,890 10,976 170,766 

 
    

 

Other post employment benefit charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

    
 

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
liability comprising: 

    
 

 Return on plan assets (excluding the 
amount included in the net interest 
expense) 

- - 1 (19,558) (19,557) 

 Actuarial gains and losses arising on 
changes in demographic assumptions 

(75,170) (5,750) (34,260) - (115,180) 

 Actuarial gains and losses arising on 
changes in financial assumptions 

417,230 14,370 9,930 66,059 507,589 

 Experience gains and losses (51,517) (1,565) (3,020) - (56,102) 

Total post employment benefit charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account 

436,193 16,305 (22,459) 57,477 487,516 

      

Movement in Reserves Statement      

 Reversal of net charges to Surplus or 
Deficit for the Provision of Services for 
post employment benefits in accordance 
with the Code 

(145,650) (9,250) (4,890) (10,976) (170,766) 

Actual amount charged against the General 
Fund Balance for pensions in the year 

     

 Employer’s contribution payable 22,104 3,673 - 7,784 33,561 

 Retirement benefits payable to pensioners - - 1,711 - 1,711 

 Additional contribution to Police Pension 
Fund Account to balance deficit  

46,404 (5,843) - - 40,561 
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 Pensions Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 

 The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the PCC’s obligation in respect of its 
defined benefit plans is as follows: 

31 March 2016 
PPS 

1987 

PPS 

2006 

PPS 

2015 PCS LGPS 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

      

Present value of defined benefit obligation 2,395,440 66,220 19,390 54,460 362,058 

Fair value of plan assets - - - - (259,176) 

Net liability arising from defined benefit 
obligation 

2,395,440 66,220 19,390 54,460 102,882 

 

 Comparative figures for 2014/15 are: 

31 March 2015 
PPS 

1987 

PPS 

2006 PCS LGPS 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     

Present value of defined benefit obligation 2,755,260 68,450 63,130 354,751 

Fair value of plan assets - - - (244,037) 

Net liability arising from defined benefit 
obligation 

2,755,260 68,450 63,130 110,714 

 

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of the LGPS (Plan) Assets 

31 March 
2015 

 
31 March 

2016 

£000  £000 

220,821 Opening fair value of scheme assets at 1 April 244,037 

(10,246) Movement of opening balance between Chief Constable and PCC - 

9,781 Interest Income 8,680 

19,592 Remeasurement (gains) and losses - return on plan assets (6,206) 

7,784 Contributions from employer 8,618 

3,188 Contributions from employees into the scheme 3,306 

(6,687) Benefits paid (8,558) 

- Transfer between PCC and CC in year 9,500 

(196) Administration expenses (201) 

244,037 Closing fair value of scheme assets at 31 March 259,176 
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Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation) 

2015/16 
PPS 

1987 

PPS 

2006 

PPS 

2015 
PCS LGPS 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Opening balance at 1 April 2,755,260 68,450 - 63,130 354,751 

Current service cost 29,820 460 14,560 2,470 11,520 

Interest cost 90,200 2,270 340 2,090 12,417 

Contributions from Scheme participants 6,760 150 5,990 - 3,306 

Remeasurement (gains) and losses      

 actuarial gains/losses arising from changes 
in demographic assumptions 

(41,070) (1,110) (300) (630) - 

 actuarial gains/losses arising from changes 
in financial assumptions 

(228,830) (15,210) (1,670) (4,820) (25,470) 

 experience gains and losses (127,026) 11,151 473 (5,831) - 

Adjustment between the group to correct the 
opening and closing balances 

    (34) 

Past service cost - - - 40 44 

Benefits paid (89,674) 59 (3) (1,989) (8,558) 

Curtailments  - - - - 979 

Transfer between PCC and CC in year - - - - 13,103 

Closing balance at 31 March 2,395,440 66,220 19,390 54,460 362,058 

 
Comparative figures for 2014/15 are: 

2014/15 
PPS 

1987 

PPS 

2006 
PCS LGPS 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Opening balance at 1 April 2,387,500 50,050 87,300 285,149 

Movement of opening balance between Chief 
Constable and PCC 

- - - (13,519) 

Current service cost 41,190 6,850 1,050 8,092 

Interest cost 104,460 2,400 3,830 12,413 

Contributions from Scheme participants 11,770 1,820 - 3,188 

Remeasurement (gains) and losses     

 actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions 

(75,170) (5,750) (34,260) - 

 actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 
financial assumptions 

417,230 14,370 9,930 66,059 

 experience gains and losses (51,517) (1,565) (3,020) - 

Past service cost - - 10 - 

Benefits paid (80,203) 275 (1,710) (6,687) 

Curtailments  - - - 56 

Closing balance at 31 March 2,755,260 68,450 63,130 354,751 
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Local Government Pension Scheme Assets comprise: 

31 March 2015  31 March 2016 

£000 %  £000 % 

  Equities   

47,099 19.3  UK quoted 46,729 18.0 

98,224 40.2  Overseas quoted 102,660 39.6 

145,323 59.5  149,389 57.6 

  Bonds   

1,879 0.8  UK Government Fixed 104 - 

29,284 12.0  UK government indexed 31,049 12.0 

6,223 2.6  Overseas government fixed 7,050 2.7 

12,568 5.2  UK other 12,803 4.9 

1,562 0.6  Overseas other 3,551 1.4 

51,516 21.2  54,557 21.0 

  Property   

22,964 9.4  UK direct 26,280 10.1 

3,661 1.5  Property funds 4,017 1.6 

26,625 10.9  30,297 11.7 

  Alternatives   

16,595 6.8  Pooled investment vehicles 20,397 7.9 

16,595 6.8  20,397 7.9 

  Cash   

3,978 1.6  Cash accounts 4,536 1.8 

3,978 1.6  4,536 1.8 

     

244,037 100.0 Total scheme assets 259,176 100.0 

 

 All scheme assets have quoted prices in active markets except pooled investment vehicles. 
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Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities  

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, 
which is an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions including mortality rates, employee turnover and salary levels. The liabilities of 
the Police Pension and Compensation Schemes have been assessed by the Government 
Actuary’s Department (GAD). The LGPS fund liabilities have been assessed by Mercer, the 
PCC’s actuary using estimates based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 
2016. 

The significant assumptions used by the Actuaries have been: 

2014/15  2015/16 

PPS LGPS  PPS LGPS 

  Mortality Assumptions:   

  Longevity at 65 for future pensioners (in years)   

25.4 25.3  Men 25.1 25.4 

27.9 28.4  Women 27.2 28.5 

  Longevity at 65 for current pensioners (in years)   

23.3 23.0  Men 23.1 23.0 

25.7 25.6  Women 25.1 25.7 

  Financial Assumptions:   

2.20% 2.10% Rate of Inflation (CPI) 2.00% 2.00% 

4.20% 3.85% Rate of Increase in Salaries 4.20% 3.75% 

2.20% 2.10% Rate of Increase in Pensions 2.20% 2.00% 

3.30% 3.40% Rate for Discounting Scheme Liabilities 3.55% 3.60% 

     

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set 
out in the above table. The sensitivity analyses in the following tables have been provided by 
the Actuaries and have been determined based on reasonably possible changes in 
assumptions occuring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that 
the assumption analysed changes while other other assumptions remain constant. In practice, 
this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated. The 
estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, 
i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method. The methods and types of 
assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used 
in the previous period. 
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Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Schemes 

PPS Increase / (Decrease)   

Assumption 1987 Scheme 2006 Scheme 2015 Scheme 

 £000 £000 £000 

    

Longevity - increase by one year 56,100 1,100 400 

Rate of increase in salaries – increase by 0.5% 20,700 4,900 - 

Rate of increase in pensions – increase by 0.5% 205,900 6,200 3,500 

Rate of discounting scheme liabilities – increase by 0.5% (254,900) (13,200) (3,500) 

    

 

LGPS Increase / (Decrease)  

Assumption £000 

  

Longevity - increase by one year 6,275 

Rate of inflation – increase by 0.5% 8,317 

Rate of increase in salaries – increase by 0.5% 4,719 

Rate of discounting scheme liabilities – increase by 0.5% (8,131) 

  

 

Impact on the PCC’s Cash Flows 

An objective of the LGPS is to keep employers’ contributions at as constant a rate as possible. 
The strategy agreed with the Actuary is to achieve a funding level of 100% over the next 20 
years. The next triennial valuation is due on 31 March 2016 with an effective date of 1 April 
2017. The contributions in respect of the Police pension schemes are determined by the 
Government. 

The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the PCC has in the long run to pay 
employment benefits. The total liability of £2,640.4m for Group (£2,638.4m for Chief 
Constable) has a substantial impact on the net worth of the PCC as recorded in the Group 
Balance Sheet, resulting in a negative overall balance of £2,564.1m. 

However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the 
PCC remains healthy: 

 the deficit on the LGPS will be made good by increased contributions over the remaining 
working life of the employees (i.e., before payments fall due), as assessed by the scheme 
actuary. 

 finance is only required to be raised to cover police pensions when the pensions are 
actually paid. 

The total contribution expected to be made to the LGPS by the PCC in the year to 31 March 
2017 is £7.3m relating to the Chief Constable. Expected contributions for the Police Pensions 
Schemes in the year to 31 March 2017 are £25.0m relating to the Chief Constable. The 
weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members is: 

 LGPS – 23 years 

 PPS 1987 – 21 years, 2006 – 37 years, 2015 – 35 years 
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19. REGIONAL WORKING 

The PCC and Chief Constable engage with the other Yorkshire and Humber PCCs and Chief 
Constables to deliver a number of services on a regional basis. The Regional Collaboration 
Programme was developed to bring opportunities across many policing activities whilst 
retaining local identity and accountability.  

From September 2013, a Lead Force model was adopted for each functional area of regional 
collaboration, with the Regional Collaboration Board retaining the responsibility for the 
governance arrangements. South Yorkshire is the lead force for Regional Procurement and 
Regional Firearms, and during 2014/15 took lead force responsibility for Regional Stores. It 
provides all the financial administration necessary to ensure that the costs are properly 
captured and fully recharged to the four participating PCCs and Chief Constables.   

The lead force arrangements have been reviewed against IFRS 11 on Joint Arrangements 
and it has been determined that they fall outside the scope of a joint operation.  

The summary position for these services is detailed in the memorandum below.  

 
2015/16 

Stores 
2015/16 

Procurement 
2015/16 

Firearms 
2015/16 

 £000 £000 £000 
    

Staff costs 266 1,542 138 

Property related expenses 139 28 - 

Supplies and services 3 61 - 

Transport related expenses 10 43 - 

Expenditure 418 1,674 138 

Other reimbursed income 
 

- 
 

(201) - 

Contributions (see below) (418) (1,473) (138) 

Income (418) (1,674) (138) 

Capital contribution (165) - - 

    

Deficit/(Surplus) in year (165) - - 

 

Contributions 
 

   

Humberside Police  (121) (244) (25) 

North Yorkshire Police  - (192) (19) 

South Yorkshire Police (180) (422) (37) 

West Yorkshire Police  (282) (567) (57) 

Humberside PCC - (12) - 

North Yorkshire PCC  - (12) - 

South Yorkshire PCC - (12) - 

West Yorkshire PCC  - (12) - 

Total (583) (1,473) (138) 

    

Release from Regional Reserve  165 - - 
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Comparative Figures for 2014/15 are as follows.  

 
 
2014/15 

Stores 
2014/15 

Procurement 
2014/15 

Firearms 
2014/15 

 £000 £000 £000 
    

Staff costs 107 1,534 137 

Property related expenses 20 18 - 

Supplies and services 6 66 1 

Transport related expenses 2 68 - 

Expenditure 135 1,686 138 

Other reimbursed income 
 

- 
 

(143) - 

WYP reserve transfer - (65) - 

Contributions (see below) (135) (1,481) (129) 

Income (135) (1,689) (129) 
    

Deficit/(Surplus) in year - (3) 9 

 

Contributions 
 

   

Humberside Police  (30) (266) (24) 

North Yorkshire Police  - (198) (17) 

South Yorkshire Police (32) (405) (33) 

West Yorkshire Police  (73) (612) (55) 

Total (135) (1,481) (129) 

    

Release from Regional Reserve  - 3 (9) 

 
The table below shows the contributions made in 2015/16 by the South Yorkshire PCC, to 
those services for which other regional forces are the lead force.  

  
Regional Service Lead Force Responsibility  2015/16 

Contribution 
£000 

   
Underwater/Marine Humberside Police 119 
Scientific Support West Yorkshire Police 3,885 
Programme Team West Yorkshire Police 80 
People Protection West Yorkshire Police 74 
Confidential Unit West Yorkshire Police 216 
Intelligence West Yorkshire Police 249 
Special Operations West Yorkshire Police 187 
Serious & Organised Crime West Yorkshire Police 226 
Fraud West Yorkshire Police 220 

   
It should be noted that the costs of Scientific Support do not include forensic submissions.  
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The Force has collaborative working arrangements with Humberside for the joint services of 
Human Resources (HR) and Information Services (IS). Each of these ventures has a 
collaboration agreement under Section 22A of the Police Act 1996 covering the main 
responsibilities. The costs of each are shared based on the total size of the respective Force 
budgets, assessed using a measure of “net revenue expenditure”. 

This joint collaborative arrangement with Humberside PCC is treated as a Joint Operation 
under IFRS 11, with only South Yorkshire PCC’s share of income and expenditure being 
recognised in the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 The table below shows the total costs of the collaborative working arrangements and the 
relevant share of the costs and percentage allocations of the costs for Human Resources and 
Information Services.   

 Human 
Resources 

 
2015/16 

 Information 
Services 

 
2015/16 

 £000  £000 
    

Staff costs 9,603  4,447 

Property related expenses 2  5 

Supplies and services 470  2,411 

Transport related expenses 365  174 

Third party costs -  - 

Expenditure 10,440  7,037 
    

Grant income -  (333) 

Contributions (see below) (10,340)  (6,703) 

Other income (100)  (1) 

Income (10,440)  (7,037) 
    

Deficit/(Surplus) in year -  - 

 
Contributions 
 

   

Humberside Police  (4,253)  (2,973) 

South Yorkshire Police  (6,087)  (3,730) 

Total (10,340)  (6,703) 

    

Humberside Police % share of costs 41.13%  44.36% 

South Yorkshire Police % share of costs 58.87%  55.64% 
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The comparative data for 2014/15 is shown below: 

  Human 
Resources 

 
2014/15 

 Information 
Services 

 
2014/15 

 £000  £000 
    

Staff costs 9,549  4,312 

Property related expenses 3  - 

Supplies and services 369  972 

Transport related expenses 391  149 

Third party costs 9  2 

Expenditure 10,321  5,435 

    

Grant income -  (134) 

Contributions (see below) (10,202)  (5,300) 

Other income (119)  (1) 

Income (10,321)  (5,435) 
    

Deficit/(Surplus) in year -  - 

 
Contributions 
 

   

Humberside Police  (4,228)  (2,203) 

South Yorkshire Police  (5,974)  (3,097) 

Total (10,202)  (5,300) 

    

Humberside Police % share of costs 41.44%  41.57% 

South Yorkshire Police % share of costs 58.56%  58.43% 
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20. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Chief Finance Officer for the Force 
on 28 September 2016.  Events taking place after that date are not reflected in the financial 
statements or notes. However, where events after this date provide information about 
conditions existing at the 31 March 2016, the figures in the financial statements and notes 
have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information.   

It is to be noted that the substantive Chief Constable Mr Crompton, was suspended in April 
2016. These accounts are signed by Mr Watson, the interim Chief Constable. 

The Hillsborough Inquests concluded on 26 April 2016 with 96 unlawful killing verdicts. 

In relation to any potential future liabilities following these Hillsborough verdicts and any 
outcomes from CSE / Operation Stovewood, please refer to the Group accounts. 
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2014/15  2015/16 
£000 £000  £000 £000 

     

  Contributions Receivable   

  From the PCC   

(23,612)    Normal (19,836)  

(2,165)    Early retirements (1,811)  

(13,584)  Officers’ Contributions (12,893)  

 (39,361)   (34,540) 

     
 (493) Transfers In from Other Schemes  (444) 
     

  Benefits Payable   

59,404   Pensions 62,388  

19,756   Commutations and lump sum retirement benefits 27,137  

75    Death benefits 75  

 79,235   89,600 

  Payments to and on account of Leavers   

12   Refunds of contributions 13  

1,168 1,180  Transfers out to other schemes 442 455 

 40,561 Net Amount Payable for the year   55,071 

     

 (40,561) Additional Contribution from the PCC (via Home 
Office) 

 (52,370) 

  Additional Contribution from the PCC  (2,701) 

 - Net Amount Payable / Receivable for Year  - 

     

 NET ASSETS STATEMENT 

31 MARCH 
2015 

 31 MARCH 
2016 

£000  £000 
   

 Current Assets 243 

127  Contributions due from the PCC 139 

73  Contributions due from officers  (314) 

(200)  Amount owing from General Fund  

 Current Liabilities  

   Unpaid pensions benefits  (68) 

   

- TOTAL - 

The payroll date for police officers fell on the 27 March 2016 so there was an adjustment for 
four days for 2015/16. For 2014/15 there was an adjustment for two days. 
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 Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

 The Police Pension Fund Account is operated in accordance with the Police Pension Fund 
Regulations 2007 (SI 2007 No 1932), which specifies the amounts that must be paid into and 
out of the Fund. The Chief Constable administers the Fund Account on behalf of the PCC 
although no cash is transacted by the Chief Constable, with all payments and receipts being 
made by the PCC. 

 An employer’s contribution is paid into the Fund, together with contributions from employees 
who are members of the Police Pensions Schemes. The contribution rates are based on 
percentages of pensionable pay, as determined nationally by the Government and subject to 
triennial revaluation by the Government Actuary’s Department. The current contribution rates 
are:- 

 1987 Scheme = 35.55% to 36.35% (21.3% for the employer and 14.25% to 
15.05% for employees)  

 2006 Scheme = 32.30% to 34.05% (21.3% for the employer and 11% to 
12.75% for employees)  

 2015 Scheme = 33.74% to 35.08% (21.3% for the employer and 12.44% to 
13.78% for employees). 

 The actuarial valuation has set the employer contribution rate for all three police pension 
schemes from 1 April 2015 at 21.3% of pensionable pay. The difference between the old 
employer contribution rate of 24.2% and the new rate will be retained by the Government. This 
means that the police pensions top up grant will be reduced by the difference between the 
contribution rates of 24.2% and 21.3%. Therefore, the reduction of 2.9% is payable via local 
PCC budget for 2015/16.  Treatment of the revised employer contribution rate in future years 
is to be confirmed in due course.  

Payments are also made into the Fund in respect of ill health retirements. 

The schemes are unfunded which means that there are no investment assets built up to meet 
pensions payments. The Pension Fund Account is therefore balanced to nil each year by a 
transfer from the PCC’s General Fund which then receives a top-up grant from the 
Government if contributions are insufficient to meet the defined pensions benefits payable. 
Any surpluses on the Fund are repayable to the Government. 

The accounting policies adopted for the Pension Fund follow those set out in the Statement 
of Accounting Policies (Note 1). However the Net Assets Statement does not include liabilities 
to pay pensions and other benefits after the Balance Sheet date. These are dealt with within 
the Group Financial Statements in accordance with the application of International Accounting 
Standard 19 - Retirement Benefits.  
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Independent auditor’s report to the Chief Constable of South Yorkshire 

We have audited the financial statements of the Chief Constable of South Yorkshire for the year ended 
31 March 2016 on pages 14 to 50. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom 2015/16.  
 
This report is made solely to the Chief Constable in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Chief 
Constable those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Chief Constable for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  
 
Respective responsibilities of the Director of Finance and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Director of Finance is responsible for 
the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance 
with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom, and for being satisfied that the financial statements give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us 
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Chief Constable’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the Director of Finance; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.   
 
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Narrative Statement to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is 
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by 
us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.  
  
Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements:  

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Chief Constable as at 31 March 2016 and 
of the Chief Constable’s expenditure and income for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16. 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
The Code of Audit Practice requires us to report to you if: 

 the Annual Governance Statement which accompanies the financial statements does not reflect 
compliance with ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: a Framework’ published by 
CIPFA/SOLACE in June 2007; or  

 the information given in the Narrative Statement for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is not consistent with the financial statements; or 

 any matters have been reported in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of, the audit; or  
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 any recommendations have been made under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014; or 

 any other special powers of the auditor have been exercised under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
 
Conclusion on Chief Constable’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
Chief Constable’s responsibilities 
The Chief Constable is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, 
and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities 
We are required under Section 20(1) (c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy 
ourselves that the Chief Constable has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in their use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and 
Auditor General (C&AG) requires us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements. 
 
We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that the 
Chief Constable has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in their use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, 
whether all aspects of the Chief Constable’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
the use of resources 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 
guidance on the specified criterion issued by C&AG in November 2015, as to whether the Chief 
Constable of South Yorkshire had proper arrangements to ensure they took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and 
local people. The C&AG determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code 
of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Chief Constable of South Yorkshire put in place 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in their use of resources for 
the year ended 31 March 2016. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, 
we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant 
respects, the Chief Constable of South Yorkshire had put in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in their use of resources. 
 
Basis for qualified conclusion – Child Sexual Exploitation 
The Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham, led by Professor Alexis Jay 
OBE, reported in August 2014 that 1,400 young people may have been victims of Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) activity in Rotherham between 1997 and 2013. In considering the Chief 
Constable's arrangements for challenging how they secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
the use of resources, we identified that the Chief Constable had continued to made progress in 
reorganising and strengthening arrangements to tackle both historic and current cases of CSE during 
2015/16. In March 2016, Professor John Drew’s independent report, commissioned by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner for South Yorkshire, concluded that the police’s response to safeguarding 
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children and young people from child sexual exploitation was now adequate. However, the new 
arrangements were not in place during the whole of 2015/16. 
 
Qualified conclusion 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the C&AG in November 2015, with 
the exception of the matter reported in the basis for qualified conclusion paragraph above, we are 
satisfied that, in all significant respects, the Chief Constable of South Yorkshire put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2016. 
 

Certificate  
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of the Chief Constable of 
South Yorkshire in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
and the Code of Audit Practice. 
 
 
Rashpal Khangura 
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
1 Sovereign Street 
Leeds 
LS1 4DA 
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Annual Governance Statement 2015/16 
 

1. What is Corporate Governance? 
 
1.1 Corporate governance refers to the process by which organisations are directed, controlled, 

led and held to account.  In other words, Corporate Governance is how we make sure we do 
things properly. 

 
1.2 Each year the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and Chief Constable are required to 

produce an Annual Governance Statement.  The Annual Governance Statement is the formal 
mechanism used to report on the effectiveness of the internal control and decision making 
systems.  The Annual Governance Statement complies with the reporting requirements 
contained in the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting and accompanies the 
accounts for the financial year.  This document describes the governance arrangements in 
place over the last 12 months and sets out areas for improvement in the year ahead. 

 
2. The Purpose of the Joint Corporate Governance Framework 
 
2.1 The PCC and Chief Constable have adopted a Joint Corporate Governance Framework which 

is consistent with the principles (set out below) of the CIPFA Framework “Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government” and the subsequent addendum and guidance note for 
police issued in 2012.   

 

 Focusing on the purpose of the PCC and the Force, and on outcomes for the 
community, and creating and implementing a vision for the local area; 

 Leaders, officers and partners working together to achieve a common purpose 
with clearly defined functions and roles; 

 Promoting values for the PCC and demonstrating the values of good governance 
through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour; 

 Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny 
and managing risk; 

 Developing the capacity and capability of the PCC, officers of the PCC and the 
Force to be effective; and 

 Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 
accountability. 

 
2.2 The Framework comprises the culture, values, systems and processes by which the Chief 

Constable delivers services to the community. A copy of the Joint Corporate Governance 
Framework is available on the PCC’s website or by writing to the Chief Executive of the Office 
of the Police and Crime Commissioner, Carbrook House, Carbrook Hall Road, Sheffield S9 
2EH). 
 

2.3 The system of internal control is a significant part of the Framework, and is designed to 
manage and reduce risk to a reasonable level.  It can, however, provide only reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of the effectiveness.  The system of internal control is a continuous 
process, designed to identify and prioritise risks to the achievement of the Chief Constable’s 
policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they happen, and to manage them economically, efficiently and effectively. 

 
3. What we said we were going to improve during 2015/16 
 
3.1 Significant progress has been made in each of the areas identified for development during 

2015/16.  Progress has been monitored through the Joint Independent Audit Committee.  A 
summary of the progress made in each area follows. 
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3.2 Effectiveness of the Joint Corporate Governance Framework including regional structures, 
systems, processes and procedures 

 
Concerns continued throughout 2015/16 in relation to the effectiveness of the Joint Corporate 
Governance Framework and in particular the regional governance arrangements.  The Joint 
Independent Audit Committee has recommended this matter continues to be identified as an 
area for improvement during 2016/17 as well as being included as a strategic risk for both the 
PCC and Chief Constable. 
 

3.3      The Hillsborough Inquests  
 

The Inquests’ conclusions were returned on 26th April 2016.  It was determined that the deaths 
at Hillsborough were the result of unlawful killing and that fan behaviour did not contribute to 
the disaster. The Force’s Chief Constable, David Crompton was subsequently suspended by 
the Commissioner who appointed Dave Jones, Chief Constable of North Yorkshire Police, as 
the Force’s Interim Chief Constable. The Force has received significant numbers of civil claims 
and the Commissioner is reviewing financing options including working with the Home Office 
to look at further grant funding. In relation to criminal proceedings, current investigations are 
likely to lead to files going to the Crown Prosecution Service towards the end of 2016. 
 

3.4       Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 
 

The Force has attracted a lot of national media attention centered around the Professor Alexis 
Jay OBE report of August 2014 on child sexual exploitation in Rotherham between 1997 and 
2013 and the Louise Casey report of February 2015 into Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council. Significant additional resourcing has now been introduced to the Public Protection 
Unit and the Force has recently received the findings of the independent, National Crime 
Agency investigation (Operation Stovewood), commissioned by the Chief Constable and 
overseen by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, into how the Force has historically 
responded to matters raised in the above reports.  

 
3.5       The Removal of Delegation Rights From Police Officers 
 

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 prevented Police Commissioners from 
delegating authority to police officers, including that needed to authorise orders for goods and 
services. Governance changes following Stage 2 of the above legislation allowed the Force to 
reinstate police officer authorisations in June, 2015. This matter is now closed. 
 

3.6 Sickness Absence Reporting  
 
An Internal Audit report of June, 2015 recommended that a common approach to sickness 
management be implemented for the Humberside and South Yorkshire Forces. This single,    
self-service functionality was implemented towards the end of 2015/16. This matter is now       
closed. 

 
4. How we manage our business 
 
4.1 Governance and Assurance Board (GAB)  

During 2015/16 the Governance and Assurance Board met on a 6 weekly basis and was 
chaired by the PCC.  This meeting was the forum which supported the PCC in discharging his 
statutory duties and responsibilities and the minutes are published in line with the PCC’s 
commitment to openness and transparency. 
 



SOUTH YORKSHIRE POLICE - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2015/16 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 

 

56 

 

During the summer of 2016/17 the PCC introduced an interim governance meeting structure.  
GAB was replaced by the PCC’s Public Accountability Board. The Chief Constable and his 
chief officer colleagues and members of both bodies.  
 

4.2     Chief Constable: the Chief Constable is responsible for maintaining the corporate governance 
arrangements for the Force. He is assisted in this by a chief officer team sitting as the Senior 
Leadership Group (SLG). The Chief Constable personally signs the Annual Governance 
Statement and, with SLG assistance, monitors progress throughout the year, primarily by 
reviewing and agreeing as appropriate, all Action Plan reports prior to their submission to the 
Joint Independent Audit Committee.  

 
4.3    Senior Leadership Group: rather than operate a separate Governance Board the Chief 

Constable has chosen to oversee governance arrangements using the SLG which formally 
considers Annual Governance Statement Action Plan reports on a two monthly basis. 

 
4.4     Director of Finance: this post holder is the Chief Constable’s Chief Financial Officer, has a           

statutory responsibility to ensure the proper financial administration of the Force and takes the           
lead on governance related matters including agreeing all reports prior to their submission to 
the Chief Constable and SLG. The Director of Finance, together with the Chief Constable, 
personally signs the Annual Governance Statement. In support of the Strategic Partnership, 
the Director became statutorily responsible, during 2015/16, for the finance function of 
Humberside Police also. One of his first initiatives was to draft a complete set of shared 
Financial Regulations which was effective from early 2016/17.     

 
4.5 The Joint Independent Audit Committee 

The PCC and Chief Constable have an established Joint Independent Audit Committee (JIAC) 
which, during 2015/16, operated with four members.  This has the objective of assuring, 
supporting and challenging the work of the PCC and Force, so enhancing public trust and 
confidence in their governance.  The Committee receives regular reports on internal control 
and governance related matters, including strategic risks so that it may monitor, challenge and 
review the PCC’s control measures to ensure their currency, completeness and effectiveness. 

 
4.6 The Independent Ethics Panel 

The PCC, with the full support of the Chief Constable, established an Independent Ethics 
Panel to ensure that the police are acting with integrity and upholding high professional 
standards.  The Panel provides the PCC and the Force with independent assurance and 
effective challenge particularly in relation to the embedding of the Code of Ethics into culture, 
policies and practices.  Whilst progress has been made in embedding the Code of Ethics within 
the Force there is still more work to be done. 

 
4.7 Internal Audit 

The PCC and the Chief Constable jointly employ an internal audit service.  This is provided by 
Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council’s Head of Internal Audit whose officers have full 
access to the PCC’s and Force’s staff and financial documentation. The Service is responsible 
for testing and compliance work to ensure that management controls are sufficiently effective 
and robust so as to prevent, detect and deter error, fraud and corruption.  The Head of Audit 
attends the PCC’s Monthly Senior Management Team Meetings, and reports to the Joint 
Independent Audit Committee. 

 
4.8 External Inspection Bodies 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) independently assesses police forces and 
policing activity in the public interest, ranging from neighbourhood teams through to serious 
crime and the fight against terrorism.  HMIC provide the information to allow the public to 
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compare the performance of their force against others and their evidence is used to drive 
improvements in the service to the public. 

 
4.9 Collaboration  

The Strategic Partnership with Humberside Police is overseen through a Joint Collaboration 
Board.  Regional collaboration with Humberside, North Yorkshire and West Yorkshire is 
governed through the Regional Collaboration Board. 

 
5. Compliance with the Joint Code of Corporate Governance and Review of Effectiveness 

of  the Joint Corporate Governance Framework 
 
5.1 The Chief Constable has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the 

effectiveness of the governance arrangements in place.   
 
5.2 In adopting the Joint Corporate Governance Framework the Chief Constable undertook to 

demonstrate compliance with the principles of corporate governance listed at paragraph 2.1. 
 
 Attached at Appendix A is a high-level summary of the review of the effectiveness of the Chief 

Constable’s governance and internal control arrangements for 2015/16, against each of these 
six principles.  This document also identifies those areas for further review or improvement 
during 2016/17. 

 
5.3 The review of effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 

Internal Auditors and the managers within both the Force and the OPCC who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control environment. It is 
also informed by the comments received from external auditors, and other agencies and takes 
account of the 2014/15 improvements identified. 

 
5.4 Officer Assurance Certificates have been completed by all officers who, during 2015/16, 

served at a senior level. These included senior officers from the Strategic Partnership 
Programme. Any concerns are fully considered and reflected in the “Significant Governance 
Issues”.   

 
5.5 The Head of Internal Audit has given an adequate assurance opinion for 2015/16.  His 

statement for 2015/16, as reported to the JIAC of 22 July 2016, is reproduced below: 
 

“Based on the systems reviewed and reported on by Internal Audit during the year, and the 
prevailing context of the Force during the year I have given an Adequate assurance opinion.  

 

 Of the 15 completed pieces of work 7 (47%) received a positive opinion, i.e. adequate 
and 8 (53%) received a negative opinion, i.e. limited. 

 69% of recommendations made were either Fundamental or Significant. 

 Almost two-thirds of recommendations related to the adequacy of controls.  
 

In addition to the work undertaken by the South Yorkshire Audit Team, a piece of work has 
been undertaken by the Humberside Auditors across both Forces. This is regarding Workforce 
Planning – Management Information. Although the report is still in draft awaiting a final 
discussion with management, a total of 8 recommendations have been made, 5 categorised 
as significant and 3 as merits attention. 
 
Careful consideration has been given to the overall assurance opinion. Statistically over 50% 
of the audit reviews resulted in a limited opinion. However, due consideration has been taken 
as to the specific audit areas receiving this opinion, the general response to recommendations 
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made and the extent to which the core and fundamental systems of the Force have been 
assessed as satisfactory. 
 
It has become apparent through the work undertaken through the year that there has clearly 
been an impact on management’s ability and capacity in certain areas to maintain a fully 
effective control framework arising from changes in existing or new systems, project and 
programme work, significant staffing changes and an underlying theme of considerable and 
often competing workloads. In periods of change and transformation it is not unexpected that 
some aspects of control, procedure and policy compliance are weakened in the pressure and 
need to keep operational functions working. 
 
This situation has been accepted and acknowledged by management who have provided 
positive responses to the audits undertaken. In turn the nature of the relationship with senior 
management has meant that in a number of instances Internal Audit support has been 
requested specifically because there is recognition that improvements are required or to 
assess the extent of compliance. This reflects a high level of awareness amongst the Senior 
Leadership Group and other senior managers of the importance of an effective framework of 
controls and has been taken into account in the overall opinion. 

 
Whilst the overall assurance opinion is adequate, largely due to the positive assurances given 
to the main financial systems in their core functionality, there are some key issues in a number 
of non-financial audits where weaknesses in the control framework were identified. In many 
instances these weaknesses were sufficiently material as to judge them as limited where a 
risk(s) exists of objectives not being achieved due to the absence of key controls in the system 
and/or there being a significant breakdown in the application of key controls. Although 
management has acknowledged the control and compliance weaknesses identified in the 
audits it is important that these are corrected and maintained. Follow-up work will provide the 
Committee with information and assurances in this regard in due course. 

 
In a significant number of areas reviewed it was clear that the key issue and reason for the 
weakening in the control environment was workload and change, where the implication had 
been poor compliance with procedures resulting for example in data quality issues. 
 
The response to audit recommendations has also been satisfactory overall. A number of 
recommendations have been given revised implementation dates but largely due to them 
being reliant upon other issues, e.g. the SPP, restructures or new systems. 
 
Discussions with the SLG and senior managers have provided mitigating assurances that 
there is a commitment and focus to ensure an effective framework of controls is in place across 
the Force. In a period of significant change and exceptional circumstances, it is perhaps 
understandable that management attention has been directed to other areas over the last 12 
months. 
 
As well as reflecting on the work undertaken in 2015/16 it is important to highlight some of the 
areas of risk the OPCC and Force are likely to face and the implications on controls, risk and 
governance. 

 
The biggest single factor likely to place a risk on the OPCC’s and Force’s ability to maintain 
an adequate and effective control, risk and governance framework is the continuing financial 
pressure, generally but more specifically and added to by the uncertainty of the financial 
implications from the CSE and Hillsborough legacy issues. 

 
There is also a considerable change and transformation programme in progress within the 
Force as well as with the Humberside PCC and Force in the Strategic Partnership Programme. 
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The impact of recent and future senior management and other staff changes also pose risks 
to continuity and stability all of which bring risks to the Force’s ability to maintain an effective 
and adequate control, risk and governance framework. 

 
The Senior Leadership Group will need to remain focused on implementing the necessary 
changes whilst maintaining a sound control and governance framework – i.e. ‘staying safe’. 
The 2016/17 Internal Audit Plan aims to support the Senior Management Teams through this 
change programme as well as focus on particular areas of activity and responsibility identified 
as higher risk. 

 
In recognition of the changed and changing environment and context of the Force and the 
SPP, the 2016/17 audit plan is being revisited to ensure that it focused on the key issues to 
support the Senior Leadership Group through the rest of the year.” 

 
5.6 In addition to the above formal review, assurance is provided throughout the year through: 
 

 The framework of regular management information. 

 Internal audit reviews, advisory reports and progress and follow-up reports. 

 Performance monitoring arrangements. 

 The role of the Professional Standards Department  

 Reviews by other agencies. 
 
6. Significant Governance Issues 
 
6.1 The following matters scheduled in the Annual Governance Statement 2014/15 were closed 

during 2015/16: 
 

 The Removal of Delegation Rights From Police Officers  

 Sickness Absence Reporting 
 
6.2 The following matters scheduled in the Annual Governance Statement 2014/15 are still current 

in 2016/17: 
 

 Effectiveness of the Joint Corporate Framework, including regional structures, systems 
and processes 

 Hillsborough Inquests 

 Child Sexual Exploitation 
 
6.3 The following new matters were identified in 2015/16 and will, with those identified at 6.2, be 

managed in 2016/17.  
 

 HMIC Recommendations  

 Peer Review 

 Atlas Court 

 Legal Services 

 Crime Data Integrity 

 Workforce Planning Data  

 Strategic Planning / Savings Plans  
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6.4 For the purpose of this report, all of the above matters are considered “significant”, which is   
defined as:  
 
A recommendation requiring action necessary to avoid exposure to a significant risk to the 
achievement of the objectives of the system under review. 

 
 Appendix A identifies additional areas of work for development and new actions planned in 

2016/17 which are not considered to be “significant”. 
 
6.5 Attached at Appendix B is the Chief Constable’s Annual Governance Action Plan 2016/17. 

This records all significant matters and will be used as the basis for managing these during 
the year.  

  
7. Looking Forward/Current Issues 
 
7.1 Peer Support Review 
 

A Peer Support Review team carried out an “Issues and Opportunities Assessment” for the 
PCC and the Interim Chief Constable that will form the platform for transformational change 
and delivery of the Police and Crime Plan.   
 
The Review’s findings will provide the new Chief Constable with a clear idea of where South 
Yorkshire Police’s strengths and weaknesses are strategically, and suggest ways forward.          
 
The Peer Support Review team produced a summary of its findings in late June 2016.  

 
8. Statement of the Chief Constable and Director of Finance  
 
8.1 We propose over the coming year, 2016/17 to take steps to address the above matters to 

further enhance our governance arrangements.  We are satisfied that these steps will address 
the need for improvements identified in the review of effectiveness.  We will monitor their 
implementation and operation during the course of the year through the Chief Constable’s 
Senior Leadership Group and feed this into the next annual review. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 Stephen Watson     Nigel J Hiller FCPFA FCCA 
 Interim Chief Constable   Director of Finance   
 
 Date: 28th September 2016   Date:  28th September 2016
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Appendix A – Review of Principles 
 

 EVIDENCE TO DEMONSTRATE COMPLIANCE 
GAPS / 

IMPROVEMENTS 
REQURED 

SIX CORE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES 

1. Focusing on the purpose of the PCC and on outcomes for the community and creating and implementing a vision for the local 
area 

 Develop and promote the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s (PCC’s) purpose and vision 

The PCC has a Police and Crime Plan which is evidence based 
and includes his vision and priorities for the area.   

The Force works to the PCC’s priorities as reflected in its control 
strategy and its operational priorities, all of which are prominently 
displayed on its intranet site and appropriately communicated to 
staff. 

The Police and 
Crime Plan should 
be the primary 
document for the 
force and should 
drive force business. 

 

 Review on a regular basis the PCC’s vision 
of the local area and its impact on the PCC’s 
governance arrangements 

The process for reviewing and updating policing objectives and 
their associated targets is integrated within the overall planning 
cycle, based on the Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan, 

which sets out  how the Force intends to deliver the 
Commissioner’s priorities. Central to this is a robust financial 
planning and budgetary control procedure which reflects the 
Force’s commitment to devolved financial management and is 
underpinned by a comprehensive Medium Term Resourcing 
Strategy. The Commissioner and Chief Constable meet on a 
regular basis to review progress against the Police and Crime Plan 
objectives. 

 

 Ensure that partnerships are underpinned by 
a common vision of their work and is 
understood and agreed by all parties 

The PCC has a Partnership Protocol which sets out what 
partnerships can expect from the PCC or his staff.   

The PCC has asked 
for work to be done 
by the OPCC and 
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Any partnerships the PCC establishes have clear Terms of 
Reference and link with the PCC’s priorities and roles and 
responsibilities. The Force works within the PCC’s protocol.  

The PCC, with the Chief Constable, hosted a number of 
partnership events as part of his Strategic Planning Process. 

Force to achieve a 
coherent 
Partnerships and 
Collaboration 
Strategy. 

 Publish an annual report on a timely basis to 
communicate the PCC’s activities and 
achievements, the financial position and 
performance 

The Chief Constable publishes his annual financial statements and 
annual performance data in line with statutory requirements.   

 

 Decide how the quality of service for users is 
to be measured and make sure that the 
information needed to review service quality 
effectively and regularly is available  

Clear performance indicators and outcomes have been set out in 
the Police and Crime Plan. 

The Chief Constable undertakes regular customer satisfaction 
surveys which relate to the quality of service and in particular, has 
a comprehensive framework to monitor call handling and response 
times.   
 
By the beginning of the year, corresponding with the end of the 
Comprehensive Spending Review 2011/12 to 2014/15, the Force 
had reviewed every significant area of its service provision.  
 

 

 Put in place effective arrangements to 
identify and deal with failure in service 
delivery 

The PCC holds the CC to account via a number of forums, 
including his Governance Advisory Board and one-to one’s. 

The Force has a complaints procedure and supplies information to 
the PCC on a regular basis. 

In terms of the on-going provision of services the Force has a 
dedicated Business Continuity / Contingency Planning Co-
ordinator and detailed, individual district and department business 
continuity plans to, exceptionally, aid the management of services 
under significant, unforeseen circumstances.    
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 Decide how value for money is to be 
measured and make sure that the PCC/Chief 
Constable(CC) or partnership has the 
information needed to review value for 
money and performance effectively. Measure 
the environmental impact of policies, plans 
and decisions. 

HMIC PEEL Inspections. 

VFM Profiles. 

In working to the Commissioner’s priorities, the Force uses a 
Performance Framework supported by well established 
performance management processes to hold local commanders 
and departmental heads to account for the delivery of cost 
effective services. On a monthly basis the Deputy Chief Constable 
will chair an Organisational Business Day comprising district 
commanders and departmental heads where supportive and 
intrusive inquiries will be made in relation to on-going activity, 
processes and practices. On a six monthly basis the Deputy Chief 
Constable, or other chief officer as appropriate, will chair individual 
district and department Performance and Governance meetings at 
which local management teams will be held to account for activity 
within their area.  

The Force consistently publishes sustainability information as part 
of the Statutory Accounts. 

 

 

 

2. Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly defined functions and roles 

 Set out a clear statement of the respective 
roles and responsibilities of the senior 
officers and staff of the office of the PCC and 
the Force 

Organisation chart in place. 

All staff have appropriate role profiles which detail formal 
qualifications, experience and behavioural requirements. A 
scheme of delegation is in place. 

A Corporate Governance Framework, Financial Regulations and 
Financial Instructions are in place. 

There are a number of protocols in place between the OPCC and 
the Force. 

 

 

 Determine a scheme of delegation and 
consent,  including a formal schedule of 
those matters specifically reserved for 

Schemes of delegation and consent are in place.  
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decision of the PCC, and those delegated to 
the CC, taking account of relevant legislation, 
and ensure that it is monitored and updated 
when required 

The PCC and Force share a Corporate Governance Framework 
which includes standing orders. 

Financial Regulations are in place. 

A review of Financial Regulations and the scheme of delegation 
has taken place during 2015/16. 

 Develop protocols to ensure that the PCC, 
deputy PCC, PCC chief executive and CC 
negotiate their respective roles early in the 
relationship and that a shared understanding 
of roles and objectives is maintained 

Both the PCC and CC adhere to the Policing Protocol. 

Conditions of Employment. 

Schemes of delegation and consent are in place. 

Joint Corporate Governance Framework is in place. 

All staff are subject to the same staff appraisal regime which, for 
finance function employees is accredited for mandatory, 
professional continuing professional development purposes by the 
majority of the accounting institutes. 

 

 Make a senior officer (the S151 officer) 
responsible to the PCC for ensuring that 
appropriate advice is given on all financial 
matters, for keeping proper financial records 
and accounts, and for maintaining an 
effective system of internal financial control 

The Chief Constable has appointed the Director of Finance to 
undertake his Section 151 responsibilities. 

Statutory provision. 

Statutory reports. 

Budget documentation. 

Compliance with The Role of the CFO of the PCC and the CFO of 
the Chief Constable and reporting on it accordingly in the annual 
governance statement. 

Compliance with the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public 
Service Organisations and reporting on it accordingly. 

 

 Develop protocols to ensure effective 
communication between the PCC, Deputy 
PCC, CC and officers in their respective roles 

Both the PCC and CC adhere to the Policing Protocol. 
 

Protocols need to be 
reviewed. 



SOUTH YORKSHIRE POLICE - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2015/16 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 

 

65 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Set out the terms and conditions for 
remuneration of the PCC, Deputy PCC, CC 
and officers and an effective structure for 
managing the process, including an effective 
remuneration panel (if applicable) 

The Chief Constable pays police officers in accordance with 
national terms and conditions. Police staff are paid in accordance 
with job evaluation assessments as advised by the Assistant Chief 
Officer (Human Resources).   

 

 Ensure that effective mechanisms exist to 
monitor service delivery 

The PCC has a Governance Advisory Board attended by the Chief 
Constable and chief officer colleagues. 

The PCC also has regular meetings with the Chief Constable and 
other senior officers as and when required. 

The Deputy Chief Constable holds regular, formal Performance 
and Governance meetings with district and department 
management team members to monitor service delivery.  

 

 Ensure that the PCC’s vision, strategic plans, 
priorities and targets are developed through 
robust mechanisms, and in consultation with 
the local community and other key 
stakeholders, and that they are clearly 
articulated and disseminated 

The Commissioner has a strategic planning process which 
involves consultation with local community and other key 
stakeholders.  The Commissioner publishes his Police and Crime 
Plan which the Chief Constable works to.  

 

3. Promoting values for the PCC and demonstrating the values of good governance through upholding high standards of conduct 
and behaviour 
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 Ensure that the PCC’s and Chief Constable’s 
leadership sets a tone for the organisation by 
creating a climate of openness, support and 
respect 

The Policing Protocol 2011, issued by the Home Secretary, 
requires forces to abide by the seven Nolan principles which 
should be central to the conduct and behaviour of all. It highlights 
the expectation that relationships will be based on the principles of 
goodwill, professionalism, openness and trust. The Nolan 
principles are: selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership. 

In support of the Policing Protocol 2011, the Chief Constable has 
ensured that the Force operates to its own “FIRST” principles of 
Fairness, Integrity, Respect, Standards and Trust. This initiative 
has been personally championed by the Chief Constable and 
supported by a dedicated intranet site which provides a hub of 
information for all staff and officers about the principles and 
incorporating links, information, films and policies relating to each 
of them.  
 

 

 Ensure that standards of conduct and 
personal behaviour expected of those 
holding public office and their staff are 
defined and communicated through codes of 
conduct and protocols 

See FIRST principles detailed above. 

Staff have performance and development reviews. 

There is a complaints procedure in place. 

The Force has comprehensive and robust internal control policies 
and procedures in place. The Professional Standards Department 
leads on many of these including: Anti Fraud and Corruption 
measures encompassing “whistle-blower” arrangements supported 
by trained welfare officers, a confidential reporting line, a 
mechanism for overseeing secondary employment / business 
interests, gifts, gratuities and hospitality registration arrangements, 
disclosable associations and media liaison. The Department is 
assisted in this work by a network of local, district and department 
based Integrity champions. In relation to Fraud and Corruption the 
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Commissioner’s Financial Regulations are very clear and detailed 
with both he and the Chief Constable having a responsibility to 
foster a culture that will not tolerate fraud and corruption. 

 Put in place arrangements to ensure that the 
PCC, Deputy PCC and officers of the PCC 
and CC are not influenced by prejudice, bias 
or conflicts of interest in dealing with different 
stakeholders and put in place appropriate 
processes to ensure that they continue to 
operate in practice 

The PCC and Chief Constable have contract standing orders, 
codes of conduct, financial regulations, scheme of delegation, 
gratuities and hospitality and register of interests in place.  

Grant arrangements are developed in accordance with strict 
criteria. 

Force wide Equality and Diversity strategies are in place, 
supported by Equality Impact Assessments. 
 

 

 Develop and maintain shared values 
including leadership values for both the 
organisation and staff reflecting public 
expectations and communicate these 
between the PCC/CC, staff, the community 
and partners 

The Corporate Governance Framework has joint principles. 

The PCC/CC also adhere to the Policing Protocol. 

There is a whistleblowing procedure in place. 

 

 Put in place arrangements to ensure that 
systems and processes are designed in 
conformity with appropriate ethical standards, 
and monitor their continuing effectiveness in 
practice 

The College of Policing's Code of Ethics is a national code of 
practice which states nine policing principles – accountability, 
fairness, honesty, integrity, leadership, objectivity, openness, 
respect and selflessness – and defines ten standards of 
professional behaviour: honesty & integrity, authority, respect  & 
courtesy, equality & diversity, use of force, orders & instructions, 
duties & responsibilities, confidentiality, fitness for work, conduct 
and challenging and reporting improper behaviour. The Force has 
promoted the Code and is embedding it into its culture, policies 
and practices.  

The Commissioner, with the full support of the Chief Constable, has 
an established Independent Ethics Panel to provide independent 
and effective challenge and assurance about the integrity, 
standards and ethics of decision-making in policing. 
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 Develop and maintain an effective standards 
monitoring process 

In addition to the above measures, where officers fail to meet 
professional standards and misconduct hearings ensue then, from 
1st May, 2015 members of the public have been entitled to view 
these proceedings. The findings of these continue to be published 
on the Force’s internet site. Conversely, the Organisation has 
regular cause to celebrate success and recognise performance 
through awards ceremonies, issuing commendations and 
publishing letters of appreciation. 

 

Each two years the Force undertakes a force wide staff satisfaction 
survey covering all police officers and police staff. The results of 
the latest one were reported in February, 2015 and a response to it 
published by the Deputy Chief Constable on the Staff Engagement 
intranet site. Work continued in 2015/16 to address the findings of 
this. In addition, chief officers ensure that they are in regular and 
direct communication with employees and the Chief Constable 
maintains his long established “Questions for the Chief” intranet 
site. 

 

 In pursuing the vision of a partnership, agree 
a set of values against which decision 
making and actions can be judged. Such 
values must be demonstrated by partners’ 
behaviour both individually and collectively. 

The PCC has a Partnership Protocol to which the Force adheres. 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny and managing risk 

 Develop and maintain an effective review 
and scrutiny function which encourages 
constructive challenge and enhances the 
PCC’s performance overall and that of any 
organisation for which it is responsible 

The Governance and Assurance Board, attended by the Chief 
Constable and his chief officer colleagues, provides the PCC with 
a review and scrutiny function of the Force.  

The PCC and Chief Constable share an internal audit function. 

Strategic 
Partnership 
Programme 
governance 
arrangements. 
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The PCC and CC have a Joint Independent Audit Committee. 

The Senior Leadership Group (SLG), comprising the Chief 
Constable and chief officer colleagues, oversees compliance with 
the joint Police Crime Commissioner 
and Force Risk Management Strategy and ensures that all 
significant risk are appropriately recorded and managed. 

 Develop and maintain open and effective 
mechanisms for documenting evidence for 
decisions and recording the criteria, rationale 
and considerations on which decisions are 
based 

All reports to the SLG and other formal bodies systematically take 
account of a range of control factors including risks, legal, financial, 
policy and performance implications. This body reviews all 
significant reports, emanating from the Force, prior to them being 
submitted to the Commissioner, where appropriate. The Director of 
Finance is a full SLG member and, consistent with his statutory 
responsibilities, ensures that any proposed expenditure is lawful. 
The Force is, therefore, well placed to ensure that decisions are 
compliant with relevant law and regulations, internal policies and 
procedures, and hence robust.  

As part of its performance management regime the Force uses 
overarching “TENS” project and action monitoring software to 
effectively manage and ensure compliance with decisions including 
those emanating from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary 
and internal audit and external audit reports.  

 

 Put in place arrangements to safeguard the 
PCC, Deputy PCC(s), CC and employees 
against conflicts of interest and put in place 
appropriate processes to ensure that they 
continue to operate in practice 

The Force has a Code of Ethics, a Business Interests disclosure 
policy and a requirement for chief officers to complete Related 
Party Transaction certifications as part of the statutory accounts 
process. 

The Chief Constable takes appropriate advice from members of his 
team with specialist knowledge. 
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 Develop and maintain an effective audit 
committee (or equivalent) in conjunction with 
the CC 

A Joint Independent Audit Committee has been established which 
has terms of reference and agreed membership. 

As part of its governance remit, the Joint Independent Audit 
Committee will consider the Annual Governance Statement such 
that its views may be reflected in the final, published document. In 
addition, it will monitor the way in which the Force manages the 
governance issues documented in the Annual Governance 
Statement and any that emerge throughout the year.  

 

 Ensure that effective, transparent and 
accessible arrangements are in place for 
dealing with complaints 

The Force has an established complaints procedure. 

The PCC’s Independent Ethics Panel has an assurance role in 
relation to complaints. 

The Chief Constable has an FOI process. 

 

 Ensure that those making decisions whether 
for the PCC/CC or partnership are provided 
with information that is fit for the purpose – 
relevant, timely and gives clear explanations 
of technical issues and their implications 

The process for making decisions is evidence based as described 
above. 

 

 Ensure that professional advice on matters 
that have legal or financial implications is 
available and recorded well in advance of 
decision making and used appropriately 

Professional advice is provided to the Chief Constable and, more 
broadly, financial and legal implications are always considered as 
part of the Force’s decision-making process. 

 

 

 Ensure that risk management is embedded 
into the culture of the PCC, with all parties 
recognising that risk management is part of 
their job 

The PCC and Chief Constable have a joint Risk Management 
Strategy in place which sets out everyone’s responsibility. 

The Chief Constable’s strategic risks are discussed at his 
management team meetings. 

Further work is 
required to align 
SYP and the 
OPCC’s risks. 
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 Ensure that arrangements are in place for 
whistle-blowing to which staff and all those 
contracting with the PCC have access 

The Force has a Whistleblowing policy which OPCC staff have 
access to. 

 

 Actively recognise the limits of lawful activity 
placed on them by, for example, the ultra 
vires doctrine but also strive to utilise powers 
to the full benefit of the community 

The Force has a Corporate Governance Framework. 

 

 

 Recognise the limits of lawful action and 
observe both the specific requirements of 
legislation and the general responsibilities 
placed on the PCC/CC by public law 

The Chief Constable has access to appropriate legal advice. 

 

 

 Observe all specific legislative requirements 
placed upon them, as well as the 
requirements of general law, and in particular 
to integrate the key principles of good 
administrative law – rationality, legality and 
natural justice – into the PCC/CC’s 
procedures and decision-making processes. 

The Force’s Director of Finance and Head of Legal Services 
ensure that suitable advice is made available to the Chief 
Constable to enable him to comply with statutory requirements.  

 

5. Developing the capacity and capability of the PCC and officers to be effective 

 Provide induction programmes tailored to 
individual needs and opportunities for the 
PCC, Deputy PCC, Chief Constable and 
officers to update their knowledge on a 
regular basis 

The Chief Constable and officers have an induction programme. 

An induction programme is in place for new members of staff. 

 

 

 Ensure that the statutory officers have the 
skills, resources and support necessary to 
perform effectively in their roles and that 
these roles are properly understood  

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
document, “The Role of the Chief Finance Officer (‘CFO’) of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and the CFO of the Chief 
Constable”, published in 2012, sets out five principles that define 
the core activities and legislative and professional standards 
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pertaining to the role of the CFO.  It states in summary that the 
CFO:  

 be a suitably qualified professional accountant,  

 be a key member of the leadership team,  

 be able to influence all material business decisions,  

 lead the delivery of good financial management and work in 
close liaison with the PCC, Chief Executive and the Chief 
Constable to ensure that the finance function is resourced 
to be fit for purpose.   

The Chief Constable’s CFO fully complies with the requirements of 
this CIPFA document. 

 Assess the skills required by the PCC, 
Deputy PCC(s), CC and officers and make a 
commitment to develop those skills to enable 
roles to be carried out effectively 

Arrangements exist to identify the development needs of officers 
so that they may be addressed by appropriate training. Role 
profiles, person specifications and schedules of main duties exist 
for all posts which identify post holder responsibilities and 
corresponding skills requirements. The performance of officers 
within roles is managed by a well established, personal 
development review (PDR) mechanism, which has been 
redesigned effective from the beginning of 2016/17. The Force has 
a “Health and Wellbeing Strategy” to further support officers 
impacted by current organisational change and the on-going 
investigation of legacy related issues. 

Leadership Learning Groups were established by the Chief 
Constable and his Humberside counterpart, during the year, to 
involve the whole of the SLG in directly supporting senior 
managers within the Organisation.  

 

 Develop skills on a continuing basis to 
improve performance, including the ability to 
scrutinise and challenge and to recognise 
when outside expert advice is needed 

Performance and Development Reviews are in place for all staff.  
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 Ensure that effective arrangements are in 
place for reviewing the performance of the 
PCC, Deputy PCC, Chief Constable and the 
organisation as a whole and of individual 
members and agreeing an action plan which 
might, for example, aim to address any 
training or development needs 

Performance and Development Reviews are in place for all staff.  

 Ensure that career structures are in place for  
officers to encourage participation and 
development 

The Force has well developed workforce planning and talent 
management functions in place. 

 

 

6. Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability 

 Define who the PCC is accountable to and 
for what 

The PCC is accountable to the public. 

The Police and Crime Panel hold the PCC to account. 

The Chief Constable is held to account by the PCC. 

 

 Consider those institutional stakeholders to 
whom the PCC is accountable and assess 
the effectiveness of the relationships and any 
changes required 

The Police and Crime Panel hold the PCC to account and the PCC 
attends the Panel meetings when required. 

The PCC is accountable to the public. 

The Chief Constable is accountable to the PCC. 

 

 Ensure that clear channels of communication 
are in place with all sections of the 
community and other stakeholders, and put 
in place monitoring arrangements to ensure 
that they operate effectively 

The Force participates in a large and diverse range of joint working 
arrangements including partnership work with the South Yorkshire 
Fire and Rescue Service, Yorkshire Ambulance Service, the NHS, 
Safer Roads Partnership, South Yorkshire Passenger Transport 
Executive, the local metropolitan borough councils of Barnsley, 
Doncaster and Rotherham, Sheffield City Council, schools, 
colleges, the Immigration Service, the Post office, local businesses 
and charities. A particular success, involving many of the above 
bodies, is the Lifewise Centre at Rotherham. This is based around 
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a purpose built film set and uses interactive techniques to educate 
visitors about safety and citizenship with the ultimate aim of 
reducing crime and improving the quality of life. 

 Ensure that arrangements are in place to 
enable the PCC to engage with all sections 
of the community effectively. These 
arrangements should recognise that different 
sections of the community have different 
priorities and establish explicit processes for 
dealing with these competing demands 

South Yorkshire Police undertake a User Satisfaction Survey which 
is a monthly telephone survey that monitors satisfaction from victims 
of crime. The survey is a Home Office requirement and the data 
informs service improvements locally.  For example, “Track my 
Crime” was initially proposed as a successful response to the low 
‘follow-up’ scores in the satisfaction survey.                             

“Track My Crime” is another means by which the Force seeks to 
be transparent and accountable. This is an on-line service that 
enables victims of crime to access the progress of the investigation 
at their convenience. This service is now supplemented by a 
facility for the appropriate reporting of crimes on-line using the 
Force’s web site. 

 

 Establish a clear policy on the types of issues 
that the PCC will meaningfully consult on or 
engage with the public and service users 
about including a feedback mechanism for 
those consultees to demonstrate what has 
changed as a result 

The PCC has a Consultation and Engagement Strategy which 
identifies issues the PCC will consult on, this Strategy also 
recognises the need for ad hoc engagement. The Force acts on 
the feedback obtained from this work. 

 

 On an annual basis, publish a performance 
plan giving information on the PCC’s vision, 
strategy, plans and financial statements as 
well as information about its outcomes, 
achievements and the satisfaction of service 
users in the previous period 

An annual summary of Force performance is included in the 
narrative of the Organisation’s Statutory Accounts.  

 

 Ensure that the PCC and the office of the 
PCC is open and accessible to the 
community, service users and its staff and 
ensure that it has made a commitment to 

The Force publishes significant amounts of information in 
compliance with the Freedom of Information Act model publication 
scheme in relation to such as the Force structure, employee 
numbers, senior staff profiles, contact details, statutory accounts 
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openness and transparency in all its 
dealings, including partnerships, subject only 
to the need to preserve confidentiality in 
those specific circumstances where it is 
proper and appropriate to do so 

and budgets as well as making available full details of all 
expenditure in excess of £500 as required by transparency 
regulations.  

 

 

 Develop and maintain a clear policy on how 
staff and their representatives are consulted 
and involved in decision making 

The Chief Constable and Assistant Chief Officer (Human 
Resources) have established a Joint Consultative Committee to 
assist the ACO in leading on all industrial relations matters. 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

 A risk management strategy / policy has 
been adopted for the office of the CC 

The PCC and CC have a joint risk management strategy.  

 The strategy / policy requires the CC to: 

o Identify corporate and operational risks 

o Ensure the Force gas appropriate 
arrangements in place to identify risks to 
its business and service delivery 

o Ensure appropriate arrangements are in 
place to align PCC and Force risk 
management strategies where 
appropriate 

The CC has a process for identifying risk. 

The PCC and CC have a joint risk management strategy. 

The PCC and CC have a Joint Independent Audit Committee 
where risk is discussed. 

 

 

 In identifying risks, the management strategy 
/ policy should also 

o Identify and analyse causes and 
consequences 

o Assess the risks for likelihood and impact 

o Identify controls 

This is part of the risk process.  
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o Allocate responsibility for controls 

 The PCC maintains and reviews a register of 
business risks linking them to strategic 
business objectives and assigning ownership 
for each risk. The risks arising from and 
within partnership and other joint working 
arrangements should be identified 

The Force maintains a comprehensive Strategic Risk Register.   

 Risk registers should be supported by a 
series of sector or departmental risk registers 
that identify and assign the lower level 
operational risks where relevant 

Due to the size of the organisation this is not applicable.  

 The Audit Committee has specific 
responsibility in its terms of reference to 
consider corporate risk management 

Included in its Terms of Reference.  

 Reports to support strategic policy decisions 
of the PCC, and management of corporate 
business (including business cases and 
project initiation documents) include a risk 
assessment and identification of mitigating 
action. This should include consideration of 
positive risks (opportunities) as well as 
negative risks (threats) 

Risk assessments are included in report templates.  

 Risk management awareness training is in 
place within the office of the PCC for those 
individuals with specific responsibility for risk 
management. Similarly, relevant training and 
guidance is in place for all appropriate staff to 
enable them to take responsibility for 

Risk management is discussed at the Senior Leadership Group 
ahead of each Joint Independent Audit Committee meeting. 
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managing risk within their own working 
environment 

 The risk management process is reviewed 
and updated annually 

This is reported to the Joint Independent Audit Committee.  
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Appendix B – Action Plan 2016/17 
 

SIGNIFICANT 
GOVERNANCE 
ISSUE 

Proposed action Officer 
Responsible 

Estimated 
Timescale 

Actual 
Timescale 

Update Status 

 
Hillsborough 
Inquest. 
 
 
 

 
1. Legal Services arrangements being made for 

Hillsborough oversight 
2. All External Inquiries including Hillsborough moving 

under ACC Barber’s portfolio 
3. Consequence Management Group established for 

Hillsborough Inquests and days and weeks following 
4. Hillsborough Solicitor remains available until May 2016 
5. Hillsborough Gold to manage current and future issues 
6. Procurement of solicitors to act for the CC in any 

litigation 
7. External Inquiries resourcing is under review 
8. Special Grant Application to Home Office with strong 

supporting argument 
9. Budgeting for the potential costs 
10. External Inquiries Team, co-ordinate, manage and task 

force to co-operate with investigations  
11. Specialist Insurance Advice 
12. Engagement, liaison and updates to Staff Associations 
13. Liaison and updates to serving officers and district/dept 

heads 
14. Hillsborough Archive passed to IPCC 
15. PolSA led Searches for Hillsborough Material 
16. Departmental Self-Certification for Hillsborough 

Material 
17. Occupational Health extra support extended to retired 

officers 
18. Staff Associations support extended to retired officers 
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SIGNIFICANT 
GOVERNANCE 
ISSUE 

Proposed action Officer 
Responsible 

Estimated 
Timescale 

Actual 
Timescale 

Update Status 

 
Effectiveness of 
the Joint 
Corporate 
Governance 
Framework, 
including 
regional 
structures, 
systems and 
processes. 

 
To instigate and complete a review of the revised 
Framework 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Child Sexual 
Exploitation  
 
 
 

 
The PCC and Force have placed significant additional 
resources into the Public Protection Unit to investigate and 
combat this. In addition the Force has recently received the 
findings of a National Crime Agency investigation 
commissioned by the Chief Constable. 

     

 
HMIC 
Recommenda-
tions  

 
The Force’s PEEL assessments for 2015 found “Legitimacy” 
to be good but both “Effectiveness” and “Efficiency” were 
judged to require improvement. In addition the Inspectorate 
issued other reports including a National Child Protection 
Inspection follow up / review paper and a national report in 
relation to the identification of victim and witness 
vulnerability in criminal cases. The Force has robust 
procedures in place to ensure that all reports are responded 
to in a timely, effective and appropriate manner, however, 
given the level of the PEEL assessments it is felt appropriate 
to record these as a significant governance issue.   
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
Peer Review  
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SIGNIFICANT 
GOVERNANCE 
ISSUE 

Proposed action Officer 
Responsible 

Estimated 
Timescale 

Actual 
Timescale 

Update Status 

At the beginning of 2016/17 the Deputy Chief Constable of 
Lancashire Constabulary led a peer review of the Force in 
support of the work of the Interim Chief Constable, Dave 
Jones. The remit was broad and covered culture and 
leadership, ethics and integrity, organisational learning and 
various operational issues. In the year ahead the Force will 
digest the feedback, learn from the findings and ensure that 
the recommendations are put into practice as appropriate. 
 

    
 

 
Atlas Court 

 
A combination of factors has meant that there has been an 
inability to reduce waiting times for members of the public 
and police officers when contacting the Force’s call handling 
centre. The causes are staffing and technology based 
where, for the former, recruitment and retention is 
problematic. For the latter the Function is dependent on 
essentially old and unstable computer systems. Control 
measures are in place for both aspects including a funded 
capital programme project to implement new telephony 
systems.  

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 

 
Legal Services 

 
The Department has experienced significant resourcing 
problems which have been exacerbated by rising demand 
in the area of child sexual offences preventative orders and, 
towards the end of the year, by the retirement of the Joint 
Head of Legal Services for South Yorkshire and 
Humberside Police. Recruitment is being finalised for this 
key post and other interim arrangements implemented. 
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SIGNIFICANT 
GOVERNANCE 
ISSUE 

Proposed action Officer 
Responsible 

Estimated 
Timescale 

Actual 
Timescale 

Update Status 

 
Crime Data 
Integrity 

 
Following national HMIC Crime Data Integrity (CDI) 
inspections there is a requirement that all forces include CDI 
on their force strategic risk register. In addition, the Chief 
Constable has chosen to record this matter on the Force’s 
AGS in recognition of the potential lowering of standards of 
service and the further damage that could be done to the 
Force’s reputation should the Organisation fail to record 
crime accurately. 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
Workforce 
Planning Data 

 
Accurate and timely workforce planning data is vital for 
financial planning and service delivery, particularly given the 
significant, on-going level of savings that the Force needs to 
make from reductions in police officer and police staff 
numbers. It is essential that financial and HR establishment 
information is fully aligned so as to allow informed decisions 
in relation to future recruitment and workforce reduction 
measures. Concerns in this area led the Organisation to 
commission a review as part of the internal audit plan. This 
work has now been undertaken and an improvement plan 
determined.  
 

 
 

    

 
Strategic 
Planning / 
Savings Plans  

 
The Force has a robust revenue budget setting process and 
has traditionally been good at implementing identified 
savings in a timely manner. Whilst the broader Medium 
Term Resourcing Strategy is robust in forecasting future 
year expenditure requirements, likely income and 
anticipated funding gaps, the Force has yet to fully 
determine changes in service delivery and hence supporting 
resourcing. Work is needed in this area to ensure that future 
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SIGNIFICANT 
GOVERNANCE 
ISSUE 

Proposed action Officer 
Responsible 

Estimated 
Timescale 

Actual 
Timescale 

Update Status 

years’ saving plans are appropriate, detailed and 
underpinned by comprehensive workforce planning data. 
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 Accrual 
 The concept that income and expenditure is recognised as it is earned or incurred, not as cash 

is received or paid. 

 Actuarial Gain or Loss 
 The change in actuarial deficits or surpluses that arise because either events have not coincided 

with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation (experience gains or losses), or 
because the actuarial assumptions have changed. 

 Amortisation 
 The writing down of an asset over a period of time in order to charge the revenue account for 

the usage of the asset. 

Assets 
 Items of worth which are measurable in monetary terms. Current assets are ones that change 

in value on a day to day basis whereas fixed assets are assets which yield benefit to the PCC 
for a period of more than one year. 

 
 Budget 
 A statement defining in financial terms an organisations plans over a specified period.  

  Capital Expenditure 
 Spending on the acquisition of assets or spending which adds to and not merely maintains the 

value of an existing asset. 

 Capital Receipt 
 Proceeds from the disposal of land or other capital assets which may be used to reduce debt or 

to finance capital expenditure, but cannot be used to support revenue expenditure. 
 
 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
 The accounting body that provides accounting guidance to the public sector. The guidance 

provided by CIPFA is defined as proper accounting practice and has statutory backing. 
 
 Corporate and Democratic Core 
 The costs associated with corporate policy making, together with costs relating to corporate 

management, public accountability and treasury management. 
  
 Creditor 
 Amounts owed by the PCC for works done and goods or services received for which actual 

payments had not been made by the end of the financial year. 

 Current Service Cost (Pensions) 
 This measures the increase in the present value of pensions liabilities generated in the financial 

year by employees. It is an estimate of the true economic cost of employing people in the 
financial year, earning service that will eventually entitle them to the receipt of a lump sum and 
pension when they retire.  

  
 Debtor 
 Amounts due to the PCC for works done and goods or services supplied for which actual 

payments had not been received by the end of the financial year. 
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Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 
 Retirement benefits are defined independently of the contributions payable and benefits are not 

directly related to the investments of the scheme. The scheme may be funded or unfunded. 
 
 Depreciation 
 The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful life of a fixed asset 

arising from age, wear and tear, deterioration or obsolescence. 
  
 Earmarked Reserves 
 Amounts set aside for a specific purpose in one financial year and carried forward to meet 

expenditure in future years 
 
 Expected Rate of Return on Pensions Assets 
 This is a measure of the average rate of return expected on the investment assets held by the 

scheme for the year. It is not intended to reflect the actual realised return on the scheme, but a 
longer-term measure, based on the value of assets at the start of the year and an expected 
return factor. 

 
 Finance Lease 
 A lease that transfers all the risks and rewards of ownership of a fixed asset to the lessee. Assets 

held in this way by the PCC appear on the PCC’s balance sheet and are accounted for as 
property, plant and equipment. 

 
 Financial Instrument 
 This is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability of 

another. The term covers both financial assets such as loans receivable and liabilities such as 
borrowings. 

 
 General Fund Balance 
 The General Fund Balance is the description given in the Code to those reserves held by The 

PCC that are not earmarked for specific purposes and is more commonly described as General 
Reserves. 

 
Government Grants 

 Assistance by Government and inter-governmental agencies and similar bodies in the form of 
cash or transfers of assets to a PCC in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions 
relating to the activities of the PCC. 

 
 Gross Book Value 
 The value of an asset before deducting depreciation and impairment. 
 

Impairment 
 A reduction in the value of a fixed asset below its carrying amount on the balance sheet. 
 
 Intangible Fixed Assets 
 These are fixed assets such as software licences that do not have physical substance, but are 

identifiable and controlled through legal or custody rights. 
  
 Interest Costs (Pensions) 
 The expected increase in the present value of liabilities during the year as they move one year 

closer to being paid. 
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Liabilities 
 Amounts due to individuals or organisations which will have to be paid at some point in the 

future. Current liabilities are usually payable within one year of the balance sheet date. 
 
 Net Book Value 
 The amount at which fixed assets are included in the balance sheet, that is their historical or 

current value less the cumulative amounts provided for depreciation. 
  
 Operating Leases 
 A lease where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a fixed asset remain with 

the lessor. 
 
 Outturn 
 Actual income and expenditure for the financial year. 
 

Past Service Cost (Pensions) 
 These costs represent the increase in liabilities arising from decisions taken in the current year 

to improve retirement benefits, but whose financial effect is derived from years of service earned 
in earlier years.  

 
 Provisions 
 Sums set aside to cover a liability that is likely to be incurred, but the amounts or date on which 

the cost will arise is uncertain. 
 

Reserves 
A reserve is an amount set aside for a specific future purpose in one financial year and carried 
forward to meet expenditure in future years. 
 
Revenue Expenditure 

 Expenditure on day to day running costs incurred by the Chief Constable on behalf of the PCC 
in the provision of services 

 
 Treasury Management 

The management of the PCC’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.  

 
 
 
  
  
  
  

 

 
 


